
LEAVENWORTH COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 

 

Agenda for the Regular Meeting of 6:00 P.M., Wednesday, June 9, 2021 

County Courthouse - 300 Walnut Street - Leavenworth, Kansas 66048 

www.leavenworthcounty.gov 
 

1. Call to Order 

2. Pledge of Allegiance  

3.  Roll Call 
 

4. Approval of Minutes  
 

5. Secretary’s Report 
 

6. Approval of Agenda 
 

7. Declarations: (if necessary) 

A. Declarations of receipt of communications by Planning Commissioners 

B. Disclosure of ex-parte communications for each hearing item 

C. Declarations of abstention from specific agenda items by a Commissioner 

 

8.  Consent Agenda 

 

A. Case DEV-21-056 & 057 Nick’s Acres 

Consideration of a Preliminary and Final Plat for Nick’s Acres, located on a tract of land 

in the northwest quarter of the southeast quarter of Section 31, Township 10 South, 

Range 22, East of the 6th P.M., in Leavenworth County, Kansas. 

Also known as 19960 183rd Street (PID 159-31-0-00-00-012.02) 

Submitted by Hahn Surveying 

 

B. Case DEV-21-059 & 060 Brockert Hill – Continued to the July PC Meeting  

Consideration of a Preliminary and Final Plat for Brockert Hill, on a tract of land located 

in the Northeast quarter of Section 27, Township 8 South, Range 22 East of the 6th P.M., 

in Leavenworth County, Kansas. 

Also known as 00000 207th Street (PID: 068-27-0-00-00-002.00) 

Submitted by Hahn Surveying 

 

9.  Regular Agenda  

 

A. Case DEV-21-030 & 31 Sunny Side Estates – Continued from the March & April PC Meeting 

Consideration of a Preliminary and Final Plat for Sunny Side Estates, located on all of 

Lot 1A, Heartland Estates, in Leavenworth County, Kansas. 

Also known as 00000 Evans Road (PID: 182-09-0-00-00-016.07) 

Submitted by Herring Surveying 

 

B. Case DEV-21-022 (TNT Academy) – Continued from the May Planning Commission 

Consideration of an application for a Special Use Permit for an Athletic Training Facility, 

located on a tract of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 32, Township 10 South, 

Range 22 East of the 6th P.M., in Leavenworth County, Kansas. 

Also known as 19897 178th Street (PID:  159-32-0-00-00-018.01) 

***Public Hearing Required*** 

***Public Comment limited to three minutes per person*** 

http://www.leavenworthcounty.gov/


 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

    

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

     

 

 
For More Information 

If you have any questions or need to make special arrangements for a meeting,  

please call or stop by the Planning and Zoning Department. 

Contact Stephanie Sloop – 913-684-0465 

 

 

 

C. Case DEV-21-055 (Elevated Archery)

Consideration of an application for a Special Use Permit for a Target Range for archery 
lessons and pro shop for bow maintenance, on Lots 15, Lots 43 – 46, and parts of Lots 47 
and 48 in Northwoods at Timber Lakes AND A tract of land in the Southeast quarter of 
Section 24, Township 11 South, Range 22 East of the 6 P.M. in Leavenworth County, 
Kansas.

Also known as 14702 Timber Lane (PID: 186-24-0-00-00-130.00, 114.00, & 014.06)

***Public Hearing Required***

***Public Comment limited to three minutes per person***

D. Case DEV-21-019 (Rezoning Request RR-5 to RR-2.5)

Consideration of a  rezoning request from RR-5 Zoning district to the RR-2.5 Zoning 
district on a tract of land in the Southeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section 15, 
Township 11 South, Range 20 East of the 6th P.M, Leavenworth County, Kansas, more 
fully described as follows: Commencing at the Southeast Comer of said Southeast

Quarter; thence North 02 degrees 03’33" West for a distance of 661.83 feet along the

East line of said Southeast Quarter to the TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING; thence 
continuing North 02 degrees 03'33" West for a distance of 661.83 feet along said East

line; thence South 89 degrees 03'24” West for a distance of 796.01 feet; thence South 02 
degrees 09'47" East for a distance of 663.83 feet; thence North 88 degrees 54’51" East for 
a distance of 794.77 feet to the point of beginning, less any part thereof taken or used for 
road purposes.

Also known as 00000 254th Street (PID: 205-15-0-00-00-014.00)

  ***Public Hearing Required***

***Public Comment limited to three minutes per person***

E. Case DEV-21-051 (Rezoning Request RR-2.5 to B-3)

Consideration of a rezoning request from RR-2.5 Zoning district to the B-3 Zoning 
district on a tract of land in the Northwest quarter of the Northeast quarter of Section 12, 
Township 11 South, Range 21 East of the 6th P.M. in Leavenworth County, also known

as 19393 State Avenue.

Also known as 19393 State Ave (PID: 191-12-0-00-00-005.00)

***Public Hearing Required***

***Public Comment limited to three minutes per person***

Adjournment of Planning Commission

Next meeting date:

Wednesday, July 14, 2021 6:00 PM – Regularly Scheduled Meeting



 

Planning Commission Seating Chart 2021 

 

 

 

 

Recording 

Station 

Jeff 
Spink 

Tom 

Dials 

A.W. 

“Rocky” 

Himpel 

Wolf  

Schmidt 

Chairman 

Steve 
Rosenthal  John 

Matthews Terry 

Bartkoski 
Mark 

Denney 
Alex 

DeMoro 



 

 1 

LEAVENWORTH COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION 
MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING 

May 12, 2021 

 
The full recorded meeting can be found on the County’s YouTube channel. 

 
Meeting called to order at 6:00 pm 
 
Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Members present:  Steve Rosenthal, Mark Denney, A.W. Himpel, Jeff Spink, John Matthews, Terry Barkoski, 
and Wolf Schmidt  
 
Members absent: Alex DeMoro & Tom Dials 
 
Staff present:  Krystal Voth-Director, Stephanie Sloop-Planning Coordinator, Joshua Gentzler-Planner, David 
Van Parys-Senior County Counselor 
 
Approval of Minutes: 
 
Commissioner Matthews made a motion to approve the minutes from the previous Planning Commission.  
Commissioner Schmidt seconded the motion.  
 
ROLL CALL VOTE - Motion to approve passed, 7/0 (2 absent)  
 
Secretary’s Report:  
 
Krystal Voth gave the secretary’s report, letting the commission know that there were several cases on the 
consent agenda, approval of the agenda would approve those cases.  Ms. Voth also let them know that one 
item was being continued to the June meeting.  
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Himpel to approve the agenda. Commissioner Schmidt seconded the 
motion.   
 
ROLL CALL VOTE - Motion to approve passed, 7/0 (2 absent) 
 
Declarations:  No further declarations  
 
Case DEV-21-034  
Consideration of an application for a Special Use Permit for a commercial athletic field for a baseball 
training facility, located on Lot 1 of Madeline’s Meadows a Subdivision in Leavenworth County, Kansas. 
Request submitted by Mr. and Mrs. Boden 
Also known as 25214 163rd Street (108-27-0-00-00-006.04) 
 
Ms. Voth presented the facts and findings for the above request.   
 
Chairman Rosenthal opened the public hearing portion of the hearing and asked if the applicant wished to 
speak.  Mr. and Mrs. Boden came up and explained how this use came to fruition.  Chairman Rosenthal asked 
the applicants if they agreed with the conditions.  The applicants agree with the conditions, minus paying to 
have a commercial permit, explaining that they don’t feel it really is a commercial use.  
 
Chairman Rosenthal asked the commission if they had any questions for the applicants.  Commissioner 
Bartkoski asked several questions of the applicants.  Chairman Rosenthal opened up the public hearing.  
Chairman Rosenthal asked if there were people wishing to speak in favor.  One resident spoke in favor of the 
request.  Chairman Rosenthal then asked if there were people present wishing to speak in opposition.  Several 
residents spoke in opposition to this request.  Chairman Rosenthal closed the public hearing.   
 
With no questions or discussion from the rest of the commission, it was opened up to a motion.   
 



 

 2 

Commissioner Bartkoski made a motion to approve Case DEV-21-034 amending the following 
conditions. Discussions were had about the conditions, the final motion made was to change the 
following conditions:  the facility operates January through March, operations are limited to Monday – 
Friday 5 PM to 9 PM and Weekends 9 AM – 5 PM, parking limited to 10 vehicles, prior code to the 
operation of the facility the fire code requirements will be completed.  Commissioner Spink seconded 
the motion. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE - Motion to approve passed, 7/0 (2 absent) 
 
The Board of County Commissioners will consider this item on June 2, 2021 at 9:00 A.M in the Leavenworth 
County Courthouse. 
 
Any person wishing to file a protest petition must contact the Planning & Zoning Office.  Protest 
petitions must be fined with Leavenworth County within two weeks of this meeting.  To be valid, the 
protest petition must be signed by owners of 20 % of the land area in the notification area. 
 
Case DEV-20-140 
Consideration of an application for a rezoning request from B-3 to RR-5 zoning districts to B-3 zoning 
district on a tract of land located in the Northeast Quarter of Section 3, Township 9, Range 21 East of 
the 6th P.M. in Leavenworth County, Kanas.   
Request submitted by Mr. Ledford 
Also known as 00000 Springdale Road (112-03-0-00-00-007.01) 
 
Ms. Voth presented the facts and findings for the above request.  Ms. Voth reminded the board that this request 
was heard by them before and that the Planning Commission had voiced concern about the request and had 
stated that they would be more supportive if it was not a rezone of the entire parcel.  Mr. Ledford is before them 
this evening with his request, having modified it based on feedback from the previous Planning Commission 
and Board of County Commissioners.  
 
Chairman Rosenthal opened the public hearing portion of the hearing and asked if the applicant wished to 
speak.  Mr. Ledford came forward and explained his request and the modifications that he made from his 
original request.     
 
Chairman Rosenthal asked if there was anyone that wished to speak in support of the request.  Chairman 
Rosenthal asked if there was anyone wishing to speak in opposition.  Several residents came forward to speak 
in opposition.  Chairman Rosenthal closed the public portion of the hearing and asked if there was further 
discussion.  Commissioners asked clarification questions from staff. 
 
Commissioner Himpel made a motion to deny DEV-20-140, reasons for denying are that once it is zoned 
B-3 it allows more uses that he does not feel comfortable for in the character of the neighborhood.  
Commissioner Bartkoski seconded the motion. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE - Motion to deny passed, 4/3 (2 absent) 
 
(Commissioner Denney voted no to deny based on other B-3 zoning being there, Commissioner Spink and 
Commissioner Matthews also voted no to deny) 
 
The Board of County Commissioners will consider this item on June 2, 2021 at 9:00 A.M in the Leavenworth 
County Courthouse. 
 
Any person wishing to file a protest petition must contact the Planning & Zoning Office.  Protest 
petitions must be fined with Leavenworth County within two weeks of this meeting.  To be valid, the 
protest petition must be signed by owners of 20 % of the land area in the notification area. 
 
Case DEV-21-039 
Consideration of an application for a rezoning request from RR-5 zoning districts to RR-2.5 zoning 
district on a tract of land consisting of a portion of the Southwest Quarter of the Northwest Quarter of 
Section 32, Township 09 South, Range 22 East of the 6th P.M. in Leavenworth County, Kansas.   
Request submitted by Pine Ridge Partners 



 

 3 

Also known as 00000 Seymore Road (109-32-0-00-00-004.02) 
 
Mr. Gentzler presented the facts and findings for the above request.   
 
Chairman Rosenthal opened the public hearing portion of the hearing and asked if the applicant wished to 
speak.  Mr. Riley came forward and explained his request and stated he felt this zoning fit the character of the 
neighborhood. 
 
Chairman Rosenthal asked if there was anyone that wished to speak in support of the request.  Chairman 
Rosenthal asked if there was anyone wishing to speak in opposition.  Several residents came forward to speak 
in opposition.  Chairman Rosenthal closed the public portion of the hearing and asked if there was further 
discussion. 
 
Commissioner Himpel made a motion to approve DEV-21-039.  Commissioner Matthews seconded the 
motion. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE - Motion to approve passed, 7/0 (2 absent) 
 
The Board of County Commissioners will consider this item on June 2, 2021 at 9:00 A.M in the Leavenworth 
County Courthouse. 
 
Any person wishing to file a protest petition must contact the Planning & Zoning Office.  Protest 
petitions must be fined with Leavenworth County within two weeks of this meeting.  To be valid, the 
protest petition must be signed by owners of 20 % of the land area in the notification area. 
 
Case DEV-21-033 
Consideration of an application to consider Amendments to the 2006 Leavenworth County Zoning and 
Subdivision Regulations: 
Article 3 – Definitions 
Article 41 – Access Management 
Article 43 – Cross Access Easements 
Request submitted by Planning and Zoning 
 
Mr. Voth started this portion of the meeting by offering clarification on this request.  Ms. Voth explained the 
nature of wanting to define RVs.  Planning and Zoning fields various questions and complaints about RVs and 
currently there are no regulations specific to RVs.  Ms. Voth gave the staff report regarding Article 41 and 
Article 43 going through the reasoning for these amendments 
 
Chairman Rosenthal opened the public hearing portion of the hearing and asked if the applicant wished to 
speak in favor or opposition to this matter.  Several residents spoke to voice their concern and opposition to 
Article 3.  One resident came forward to speak on Article 41 and Article 43.  Chairman Rosenthal closed the 
public hearing.   
 
Discussion took place between the commissioners and staff.   
 
It was the opinion of staff and the commission that we should table the definition about RVs and then have a 
separate vote on the other two proposed text amendments. 
 
Commissioner Matthews made a motion to table the Article 3 – Definitions portion of this request.  
Commissioner Schmidt seconded the motion.  
 
ROLL CALL VOTE - Motion to table passed 7/0 (2 absent) 
 
Staff moved forward with discussion on Article 41 and Article 43.  It was decided to change wording to delete 
“all efforts” and to read, a letter sealed by the designing engineer shall state that the roadway was built in 
accordance with the submitted plans.   
 
Commissioner Matthews made a motion to approve Article 41 and Article 43 as modified. Commissioner 
Schmidt seconded the motion. 



 

 4 

 
ROLL CALL VOTE - Motion to approve passed, 7/0 (2 absent) 
 
The Board of County Commissioners will consider this item on June 2, 2021 at 9:00 A.M in the Leavenworth 
County Courthouse. 
 
Meeting was adjourned at 8:45 p.m. 
 



June 9, 2021                                        Leavenworth County Planning Commission 1 

***Consent Agenda*** 
Case No. DEV-21-056 & 057 

Nick’s Acres 
Preliminary and Final Plat 

 
Staff Report – Planning Commission      June 9, 2021 

GENERAL INFORMATION: 
 
Applicant/                   Nick Breitenstein 
Property Owner: 19960 183rd Street 

Tonganoxie, KS 66086 
 
Agent: Larry Hahn  
 
Legal Description:      A tract of land in the southeast ¼  of Section 31, Township 10 South, 

Range 22 East of the 6th P.M, in Leavenworth County, Kansas. 
 

Parcel Size: ± 10 acres 
 
Zoning/Land Use: RR-2.5, Rural Residential 2.5-acre minimum size parcels 
 
Comprehensive Plan:  This parcel is within the Rural Residential land use category.   
 
Parcel ID No.:   159-31-0-00-00-012.02 

 
Planner:  Krystal A. Voth 
 

REPORT: 
 

Request   
The applicant is requesting a Preliminary and Final Plat for a two-lot subdivision.  
 
Adjacent Land Use 
The surrounding properties are residences and farms on varying sized parcels ranging from 1 acre to over 
140 acres in size.   
 
Flood Plain   
There are no Special Flood Hazard Areas on this parcel per FEMA Firm Map 20103C0225G July 16, 2015.  
 
Utilities/Services 
Sewer: Private septic system  
Fire: Stranger 
Water: Suburban 
Electric: FreeState 
 
Access/Streets  
The property is accessed by 183rd Street, a County Local Road with a gravel surface. 
 
Agency Comments 
See attached comments – Email – Lauren Anderson – Public Works, June 2, 2021 
 
Findings 

1. The proposed subdivision is consistent with the zoning district and meets the minimum requirements 
for lot size and road frontage. 

 
2. The property is not within a sewer district boundary or is within 660 feet of the incorporated limits of a 

municipality; therefore, a waiver to the requirement of allowing private septic systems is supported by 
staff. A private sewage disposal permit may be issued per Leavenworth County Sanitary Code 
requirements.    
 



June 9, 2021                                        Leavenworth County Planning Commission 2 

 
3. At time of development, fire hydrants shall be required if necessary infrastructure is available. 

 
 

4. The proposed subdivision is in accordance with the Comprehensive Plan. 
 

 
Subdivision Classification 
This is classified as a Class “C” Subdivision. According to the Leavenworth County Zoning & Subdivision 
regulations, a Class “C” Subdivision is any subdivision in which all the lots lie within the Rural Growth Area of 
Leavenworth County.Staff is supportive of a waiver of the requirement to connect to a sanitary sewer system 
as sanitary sewers are not located within 660’ of the subdivision. (See condition 4.) 
 
Staff Comments   
The proposed two-lot subdivision consists of two parcels each of which is approximately five acres in size 
with 250’ of road frontage. There is an existing home on the north parcel which meets the required setbacks. 
The proposed subdivision is in conformance with the Zoning and Subdivision Regulations. Staff recommends 
approval of the subdivision.  
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
The staff recommends approval of Case No.DEV-21-056 & 057, Preliminary and Final Plat for Nick’s Acres, 
with the following conditions: 
 

1. Building permits shall be required for any new construction. 
 

2. Erosion control shall be used when designing and constructing driveways.  A form of sediment control 
shall be installed before work begins and maintained throughout the time that the land disturbing 
activities are taking place.  Re-vegetation of all disturbed sites shall be completed within 45 days after 
completion of final grading weather permitting. 
 

3. The applicant shall adhere to the following memorandums: No outstanding comments. 
 

4.  A waiver for the use of private septic systems within this subdivision is granted with this approval. 
 

5. At time of development, fire hydrants shall be required if necessary infrastructure is available. 
 

6. After approval of this subdivision by the Board of County Commission, all conditions listed shall be 
adhered to and copies shall be provided to the Planning and Zoning Department within 30 days. 
 

ACTION OPTIONS: 
 

1. Recommend approval of Case No DEV-21-056 & 057, Preliminary and Final Plat for Nick’s Acres, to 
the Board of County Commission, with or without conditions; or 
 

2. Recommend denial of Case No DEV-21-056 & 057, Preliminary and Final Plat for Nick’s Acres, to the 
Board of County Commission for the following reasons; or  

 
3. Continue the hearing to another date, time, and place because; 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Aerial Map 
Memorandums  
Preliminary and Final Plat 
 

 



Traverse PC

06-02-2021 

OLSSON REVIEW

No Comments



Traverse PC

06-02-2021 

OLSSON REVIEW

No Comments



dlutgen72@gmail.com 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Nick’s Acres 

Leavenworth County Kansas 

Drainage Report 

 Prepared April 23, 2021 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Revised May 29, 2021



dlutgen72@gmail.com 

Parcel Information - The 10.0-acre (+/-) parcel is located south of Leavenworth Road on the east side 

183rd Street in Leavenworth County KS.  The parcel is zoned RR 2.5.   

Existing Conditions – There is an existing driveway and home on Lot 1.  The site can be divided into two 

drainage areas, see exhibit #1.  A composite c value was calculated for each drainage area as shown in 

the table below.  The composite c value is based on the soil type, slopes, and existing land use, see 

Exhibits #2 and #3.   

 

Existing   Acres in each Drainage Area 

  c value DA #1      

Pasture 0.36 7.37       

Impervious 0.90 0.23       

Composite c   0.38       

 

 

composite c = 
(Pasture Acres * 0.36 + Impervious Acres * 0.90) 

Total Acres 

 

 

Developed Conditions – The proposed development will create  residential building lots.  The 

developed storm water runoff calculations include 10,000 sq ft of impervious area for each lot.  This 

impervious area will account for the driveway, house footprint, and outbuilding.  It was assumed that 

one acre around each home would be maintained as a grass lawn while the remainder of the lot will be 

maintained as pasture.  A composite c value for each drainage area was calculated as shown below. 

Developed   Acres in each Drainage Area 

  c value DA #1      

Pasture 0.36 5.14       

Grass 0.30 2.00       

Impervious 0.90 0.46       

Composite c   0.38       

 

composite c = 

(Pasture Acres * 0.36 + Grass Acres * 0.30 + Impervious Acres * 

0.90) 

Total Acres 

 

 

 

 1



dlutgen72@gmail.com 

The storm water runoff for existing and developed conditions is summarized in the following table.  

Calculations for the storm water runoff are included with the report. 

 DA #1  

  Q10 Q100 

Existing 16.1 28.6 

Developed 16.1 28.6 

Change 0% 0% 

 

Conclusion – The development of this property along with the change in land use results in no change to 

the storm water runoff from the site. 

 

 

 



Traverse PC

Assumed Home
Location

Drainage Area #1
7.6 Acres

Drainage Area #2
2.4 Acres

EXHIBIT #1



Generated by a Trial Version of NetCentric Technologies’ CommonLook® Acrobat® Plug-in. www.net-centric.com

TABLE 1 Values of Runoff Coefficient C 
URBAN AREAS: 

Type of drainage area Runoff coefficient C 
 

Lawns: 
Sandy soil, flat 2%  
Sandy soil, average, 2 - 7%  
Sandy soil, steep, 7%  
Heavy soil, flat, 2%  
Heavy soil, average, 2 - 7%  
Heavy soil, steep, 7% 

 0.05 - 0.10 
 
 0.10 - 0.15 
 0.15 - 0.20 
 0.13-0.17  
 
 0.18 - 0.22  
 0.25 - 0.35 

Business: 
Downtown areas Neighborhood areas 

0.70 - 0.95  
0.50.0.70 

Residential: 
Single-family areas  
Multi units, detached Multi units,  
attached Suburban  
Apartment dwelling areas 

0.30 - 0.50  
0.40 - 0.60 
0.60 - 0.75 
0.25 - 0.40 
0.50 - 0.70 

Industrial: 
Light areas 
Heavy areas 

 
0.50 - 0.80 
0.60 - 0.90  

Parks, cemeteries 0.10 - 0.25 
Playgrounds  0.20 - 0.35 
Railroad yard areas 0.20 - 0.40 
Unimproved areas 0.10 - 0.30 
Streets: 
Asphaltic  
Concrete  
Brick  

0.70 - 0.95 
0.80 - 0.95 
0.70 - 0.85 

Drives and walks 
Roofs  

0.75 - 0.85 
0.75 - 0.95 

 
 
AGRICULTURAL AREAS: 

Topography 
 and  

Vegetation 

Runoff Coefficient C Soil Texture 
Soil Texture 

Open Sandy Loam Clay and Silt Loam Tight Clay 
Woodland 
Flat 0 - 5% Slope  
Rolling 5 - 10% Slope 
Hilly 10 - 30% Slope 

 
0.10 
0.25 
0.30 
 

 
0.30 
0.35 
0.50 
 

 
0.40 
0.50 
0.60 
 

Pasture 
Flat 
Rolling 
Hilly 

0.10 
0.16 
0.22 

0.30 
0.36 
0.42 
 

0.40 
0.55 
0.60 

 

Cultivated 
Flat 
Rolling 
Hilly 

 

 
0.30 
0.40 
0.52 
 

 
0.50 
0.60 
0.72 
 

 
0.60 
0.70 
0.82 

 
                    
           
 
 

Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS)  US Department of Agriculture (USDA) Peak Discharge Course 

https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/stelprdb1083019.pdf 

 

Source -

EXHIBIT #2



���������� !��"� 
#!$ ��%��&!$�'��%&"�

(
)����������
�
*������������
�����
����������
�

;

@AB7BCDEFGHIDJK7>FL7@FCGAHDC777MDCJFC7GDDCNIJAHFOK7>PQ8?
. /.. -.. +.. R..

SFFH
. 3. R. /-. /T.

@FHFCO
@AB7QGAUFK7:KVWV8=7IX7BCIJHFN7DJ7Y7UAJNOGABF7Z::[7\78]<[̂7O_FFH]

�������������� ������������	

���� � !"#$%&'!()$*'")%*')#%+,'
#""%!(#-%))*'.)##/0/

�1�5 6%!0&#789)+#-$'"#+:)0;,'<'$#'
3�':07"0-$'!)#:0!

�13= 9)+#-$'!()$')#%+,'3'$#'�':07"0-$'
!)#:0!,'07#/0/

�3�3 �%7$(-'!()$*'")%*')#%+,'3'$#'�'
:07"0-$'!)#:0!,'07#/0/

�5�� ?7+!$07'")%*')#%+,'3'$#'>'
:07"0-$'!)#:0!,'07#/0/

EXHIBIT #3



Drainage Area #1- 10 year

Existing Conditions Area = 7.6 acres Ti = 1.8(1.1-C)L^.5/S^1/3 L max = 300 i10 = 175/(Tc +18.8) 5 < Tc < 15

C= 0.38

L= 625 Ti = 11.2 i10 = 214/(Tc +26.7) 15 < Tc < 60

S= 8.2

K= 1 Tt = 1.04

Tc = 12.2

i10 = 5.64

Q=KCiA

Q= 16.1 cfs

Developed Conditions Area = 7.6 acres Ti = 1.8(1.1-C)L^.5/S^1/3 L max = 300 i10 = 175/(Tc +18.8) 5 < Tc < 15

C= 0.38

L= 625 Ti = 11.2 i10 = 214/(Tc +26.7) 15 < Tc < 60

S= 8.2

K= 1 Tt = 1.04

Tc = 12.2

i10 = 5.64

Q=KCiA

Q= 16.1 cfs



Drainage Area #1 - 100 year

Existing Conditions Area = 7.6 acres Ti = 1.8(1.1-C)L^.5/S^1/3 L max = 300 i100 = 256/(Tc +19.8) 5 < Tc < 15

C= 0.38

L= 625 Ti = 11.2 i100 = 331/(Tc +30) 15 < Tc < 60

S= 8.2

K= 1.25 Tt = 1.04

Tc = 12.2

i100 = 7.99

Q=KCiA

Q= 28.6 cfs

Developed Conditions Area = 7.6 acres Ti = 1.8(1.1-C)L^.5/S^1/3 L max = 300 i100 = 256/(Tc +19.8) 5 < Tc < 15

C= 0.38

L= 625 Ti = 11.2 i100 = 331/(Tc +30) 15 < Tc < 60

S= 8.2

K= 1.25 Tt = 1.04

Tc = 12.2

i100 = 7.99

Q=KCiA

Q= 28.6 cfs



DEV-21-056 & 057 Nick's Acres Plats

400.0

THIS MAP IS NOT TO BE USED FOR NAVIGATION

Feet400.00

Notes

Preliminary and Final Plats

Legend

200.00

1 in. = 200ft.

This Cadastral Map is for informational purposes only.  It does not purport to
represent a property boundary survey of the parcels shown and shall not be

used for conveyances or the establishment of property boundaries.

Address Point

Parcel Number

Parcel

City Limit Line

Major Road

<all other values>

70

Road

Railroad

Section

Section Boundaries

County Boundary



Traverse PC



Traverse PC



June 9, 2021                                             Leavenworth County Planning Commission 1 

Case No. DEV-21-030 & 031 
Sunnyside Estates – Cross Access Easements   

Preliminary & Final Plat 
 
Staff Report – Planning Commission      June 9, 2021 

GENERAL INFORMATION: 
 
Applicant/                   Allan F. & Marion S. Stork 
Property Owner: 16678 Evans Road 

Basehor, KS 66007 
 
Agent: Joe Herring 
 Herring Surveying Company 
 315 N. 5th Street 
 Leavenworth, KS 66048 
   
 
Legal Description:      Lot 1A of Heartland Estates 

 
Parcel Size: ± 10.5 acres 
 
Zoning/Land Use: RR-2.5, Rural Residential 2.5-acre minimum size parcels 
 
Comprehensive Plan:  This parcel is within the Mixed-Use land use category.   
 
Parcel ID No.:   182-09-0-00-00-016.07 

 
Planner:  Krystal A. Voth 
 

REPORT: 
 

Request   
The applicant is requesting a Preliminary and Final Plat for a four-lot Cross Access Easement subdivision.  
 
Adjacent Land Use 
Ginger Creek Subdivision is to the east, and Lee Chiles Subdivision is to the south. There is a church 
approximately ¼ mile to the west. The city of Basehor limits is less than ¾ of a mile to the east. In addition to 
the subdivisions there are several large, agricultural tracts of land.  
 
Flood Plain   
There are no Special Flood Hazard Areas on this parcel per FEMA Firm Map 20103C0327G July 16, 2015.  
 
Utilities/Services 
Sewer: Private septic system  
Fire: Fairmount 
Water: Suburban  
Electric: Evergy  
 
Access/Streets  
The property is accessed by Evans Road which is a County Collector Road with a hard surface.  
 
Agency Comments 
Mike Lingenfelser – Fairmount Township – April 6, 2021 
Planning & Zoning/Engineering Review – June 2, 20201  
 
Findings 

1. The proposed subdivision is consistent with the current Zoning District of RR-2.5 for minimum lot 
size and proposed road frontage along the Cross Access Easement. 

 



June 9, 2021                                             Leavenworth County Planning Commission 2 

2. The subdivision does not conform to the roadway spacing requirements as set forth in the current 
access management policy. With the proposed removal of the driveway immediately to the west, the 
subdivision is in conformance with the proposed access management policy. They policy has been 
accepted by the Planning Commission but has not yet been adopted by the Board of County 
Commissioners.   

 
3. At time of development, fire hydrants shall be required if necessary infrastructure is available. 

 
 

4. The property is not within a sewer district boundary or is within 660 feet of the incorporated limits of a 
municipality; therefore, a waiver to the requirement of allowing private septic systems is supported by 
staff. A private sewage disposal permit may be issued per Leavenworth County Sanitary Code 
requirements.    
 

 
5. The proposed development does not conform to the comprehensive plan. The proposed 

development indicates four lots each of which is approximately 2.5 acres in size. The 
Comprehensive Plan calls for the area to be mixed-use. The proposed development of the property 
is significantly less dense than what is allowed by the Comprehensive Plan. 

 
6. The Staff recommendation for this development is denial. Staff recommends denial based upon the 

current, adopted Access Management Policy.  
 
Subdivision Classification 
This is classified as a Class “C” Subdivision. According to the Leavenworth County Zoning & Subdivision 
regulations, a Class “C” Subdivision is any subdivision in which all the lots lie within the Rural Growth Area of 
Leavenworth County. Staff is supportive of a waiver of the requirement to connect to a sanitary sewer system 
as sanitary sewers are not located within 660’ of the subdivision. (See condition 4) 
 
Staff Comments   
The proposed development is a four-lot subdivision located on a 10-acre tract of land known as Lot 1A of 
Heartland Estates. The development meets the requirements of the zoning district; however, the proposed 
roadway does not conform to the  current Access Management Policy. The current policy (which is being 
amended) requires a minimum spacing of 1,330 feet from the intersection and other roadways. The 
submitted development is approximately 1,200 feet from the intersection of Evans and 166th and is 
approximately 400’ from the intersection of 168th Street which is located on the south side of Evans Road. 
The existing driveway to the west is being removed. The owners of the property to the west will now access 
their property through the Cross Access Easement.  
 
The Board of County Commissioners has recently tasked Staff with updating the Access Management 
Policy. The updated policy, if approved, will reduce the corner clearance (intersection clearance) from 1,330 
to 660’. The proposed development would meet this new requirement. Further, the updated policy also 
clearly states that spacing requirements are for the affected roadside only, meaning the intersection distance 
for 168th Street would no longer be a determining factor. The Planning Commission has recommended 
approval of the amended Access Management Policy, but the policy has yet to be adopted by the Board of 
County Commissioners.  
 
The development as proposed does not meet the current Access Management Policy. With the removal of 
the driveway to the west, the development meets the proposed Access Management Policy. Staff is currently 
working with the applicant to ensure the HOA and access easement (for the property to the west) are 
sufficiently written to clearly state that access will only be granted off of the CAE. Due to the fact that the 
proposed development does not meet the current policy, Staff recommends denial of the application.  
 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
In the event the Planning Commission recommends approval of Case No. DEV-21-030 & 031, Preliminary 
and Final Plat for Sunny Side Estates, Staff offers the following conditions: 
 

1. Building permits shall be required for any new construction. 
 



June 9, 2021                                             Leavenworth County Planning Commission 3 

2. The Access Agreement shall be approved by County Staff prior to the recording of the Plat. 
 

3. The driveway to the west shall be removed prior to building permits being issued.  
 

4. Erosion control shall be used when designing and constructing driveways.  A form of sediment control 
shall be installed before work begins and maintained throughout the time that the land disturbing 
activities are taking place.  Re-vegetation of all disturbed sites shall be completed within 45 days after 
completion of final grading weather permitting. 
 

5. The applicant shall adhere to the following memorandums:  
a. Mitch Pleak – Public Works, Jun 2, 20221 
b. Mike Lingenfelser – Fairmount Township FD, April 6, 2021 

 
6.  A waiver for the use of private septic systems within this subdivision is granted with this approval. 

 
7. At time of development, fire hydrants shall be required if necessary infrastructure is available. 
 
8. After approval of this subdivision by the Board of County Commission, all conditions listed shall be 

adhered to and copies shall be provided to the Planning and Zoning Department within 30 days. 
  

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Aerial Map 
Memorandums  
Preliminary Plat 
Final Plat 
 

 



dlutgen72@gmail.com 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sunny Side Estates 

Leavenworth County Kansas 

Drainage Report 

 Prepared February 14, 2021 

Revised March 23, 2021 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Revised May 29, 2021



dlutgen72@gmail.com 

 

Parcel Information - The 10.9-acre (+/-) parcel is located on the north side of Evans Road west of 166th 

Street in Leavenworth County KS.  The parcel is zoned RR 2.5.   

Existing Conditions – The parcel appears to be used as a pasture.  The site can be divided into two 

drainage areas as shown on exhibit #1.  

 

Existing   Acres in each Drainage Area 

  c value DA #1     

Pasture 0.36 8.60 2.3      

 

Developed Conditions – The proposed development will create 4 new residential building lots.  It is 

assumed that three new structures will be in drainage area #1.  A composite c value was calculated for 

the drainage area as shown in the table below.  The composite c value is based on the soil type, slopes, 

and existing land use, see Exhibits #2, #3, and #4.  The developed storm water runoff calculations 

include 10,000 sq ft of impervious area for each lot.  This impervious area will account for the driveway, 

house footprint, and outbuilding.  It is assumed that the remainder of the lot will be maintained as a 

grass lawn.  A composite c value for the drainage area was calculated as shown below. 

Developed   Acres in each Drainage Area 

  c value DA #1 DA #2     

Impervious 0.90 0.69 0.23      

Grass 0.20 7.55  1.97     

Gravel Road 0.50 0.36  0.10     

Composite c   0.27  0.28     

 

composite c = 
(Grass Acres* 0.20 + Impervious Acres * 0.90 + Gravel Rd Acres * 0.50) 

Total Acres 

 

The storm water runoff for existing and developed conditions is summarized in the following tables.  

Calculations for the storm water runoff are included with the report. 

 DA #1  

  Q10 Q100 

Existing 16.5 29.2 

Developed 11.6 20.9 

Change -29% -28% 

 

DA #2 



dlutgen72@gmail.com 

 DA #2  

  Q10 Q100 

Existing 4.4 7.8 

Developed 3.3 5.9 

Change -25% -24% 

 

Conclusion – The development of this property will result in over a 20% decrease to the storm water 

runoff from the site.   

 

 

 



DA #1
8.6 Acres

DA #2
2.3 Acres

Assumed Home
Location (TYP)

Exhibit #1



Natural Resources
Conservation Service

Web Soil Survey
National Cooperative Soil Survey

N

Map projection: Web Mercator   Corner coordinates: WGS84
0 50 100 200 300

Feet
0 30 60 120 180

Meters
Map Scale: 1:2,050 if printed on A portrait (8.5" x 11") sheet.

Soil Map may not be valid at this scale.

Map Unit Symbol Map Unit Name

7254 Grundy silty clay loam, 3 to 7 
percent slopes, eroded

7501 Pawnee clay loam, 4 to 8 
percent slopes, eroded

Exhibit #2



Generated by a Trial Version of NetCentric Technologies’ CommonLook® Acrobat® Plug-in. www.net-centric.com

TABLE 1 Values of Runoff Coefficient C 
URBAN AREAS: 

Type of drainage area Runoff coefficient C 
 

Lawns: 
Sandy soil, flat 2%  
Sandy soil, average, 2 - 7%  
Sandy soil, steep, 7%  
Heavy soil, flat, 2%  
Heavy soil, average, 2 - 7%  
Heavy soil, steep, 7% 

 0.05 - 0.10 
 
 0.10 - 0.15 
 0.15 - 0.20 
 0.13-0.17  
 
 0.18 - 0.22  
 0.25 - 0.35 

Business: 
Downtown areas Neighborhood areas 

0.70 - 0.95  
0.50.0.70 

Residential: 
Single-family areas  
Multi units, detached Multi units,  
attached Suburban  
Apartment dwelling areas 

0.30 - 0.50  
0.40 - 0.60 
0.60 - 0.75 
0.25 - 0.40 
0.50 - 0.70 

Industrial: 
Light areas 
Heavy areas 

 
0.50 - 0.80 
0.60 - 0.90  

Parks, cemeteries 0.10 - 0.25 
Playgrounds  0.20 - 0.35 
Railroad yard areas 0.20 - 0.40 
Unimproved areas 0.10 - 0.30 
Streets: 
Asphaltic  
Concrete  
Brick  

0.70 - 0.95 
0.80 - 0.95 
0.70 - 0.85 

Drives and walks 
Roofs  

0.75 - 0.85 
0.75 - 0.95 

 
 
AGRICULTURAL AREAS: 

Topography 
 and  

Vegetation 

Runoff Coefficient C Soil Texture 
Soil Texture 

Open Sandy Loam Clay and Silt Loam Tight Clay 
Woodland 
Flat 0 - 5% Slope  
Rolling 5 - 10% Slope 
Hilly 10 - 30% Slope 

 
0.10 
0.25 
0.30 
 

 
0.30 
0.35 
0.50 
 

 
0.40 
0.50 
0.60 
 

Pasture 
Flat 
Rolling 
Hilly 

0.10 
0.16 
0.22 

0.30 
0.36 
0.42 
 

0.40 
0.55 
0.60 

 

Cultivated 
Flat 
Rolling 
Hilly 

 

 
0.30 
0.40 
0.52 
 

 
0.50 
0.60 
0.72 
 

 
0.60 
0.70 
0.82 

 
                    
           
 
 

Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS)  US Department of Agriculture (USDA) Peak Discharge Course 

https://www.nrcs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/stelprdb1083019.pdf 

 

Source -

Exhibit #3



 

Referenced from MDOT Drainage Manual, www.michigan.gov  
 
Storm Water Management  CF – 1          2015 
Shiawassee County 
 
 

 
Table 3-1 Runoff Coefficients for Rational Formula 

 

Type of Drainage Area Runoff Coefficient, C* 

Concrete or Asphalt Pavement  0.8 – 0.9 
Commercial and Industrial  0.7 – 0.9 
Gravel Roadways and Shoulders  0.5 – 0.7 
Residential – Urban  0.5 – 0.7 
Residential – Suburban 0.3 – 0.5 
Undeveloped  0.1 – 0.3 
Berms  0.1 – 0.3 
Agricultural – Cultivated Fields  0.15 – 0.4 
Agricultural – Pastures  0.1 – 0.4 
Agricultural – Forested Areas  0.1 – 0.4 

 
For flat slopes or permeable soil, lower values shall be used. For steep slopes 
or impermeable soil, higher values shall be used. Steep slopes are 2:1 or 
steeper.  
 
From Michigan State Administrative Rules R 280.9.  
 

 
  
 

EXHIBIT #4



Drainage Area #1- 10 year

Existing Conditions Area = 8.6 acres Ti = 1.8(1.1-C)L^.5/S^1/3 L max = 300 i10 = 175/(Tc +18.8) 5 < Tc < 15

C= 0.36

L= 540 Ti = 13.2 i10 = 214/(Tc +26.7) 15 < Tc < 60

S= 5.3

K= 1 Tt = 0.90

Tc = 14.1

i10 = 5.31

Q=KCiA

Q= 16.5 cfs

Developed Conditions Area = 8.6 acres Ti = 1.8(1.1-C)L^.5/S^1/3 L max = 300 i10 = 175/(Tc +18.8) 5 < Tc < 15

C= 0.27

L= 540 Ti = 14.9 i10 = 214/(Tc +26.7) 15 < Tc < 60

S= 5.3

K= 1 Tt = 0.90

Tc = 15.8

i10 = 5.04

Q=KCiA

Q= 11.6 cfs



Drainage Area #1 - 100 year

Existing Conditions Area = 8.6 acres Ti = 1.8(1.1-C)L^.5/S^1/3 L max = 300 i100 = 256/(Tc +19.8) 5 < Tc < 15

C= 0.36

L= 540 Ti = 13.2 i100 = 331/(Tc +30) 15 < Tc < 60

S= 5.3

K= 1.25 Tt = 0.90

Tc = 14.1

i100 = 7.54

Q=KCiA

Q= 29.2 cfs

Developed Conditions Area = 8.6 acres Ti = 1.8(1.1-C)L^.5/S^1/3 L max = 300 i100 = 256/(Tc +19.8) 5 < Tc < 15

C= 0.27

L= 540 Ti = 14.9 i100 = 331/(Tc +30) 15 < Tc < 60

S= 5.3

K= 1.25 Tt = 0.90

Tc = 15.8

i100 = 7.23

Q=KCiA

Q= 20.9 cfs



Drainage Area #2- 10 year

Existing Conditions Area = 2.3 acres Ti = 1.8(1.1-C)L^.5/S^1/3 L max = 300 i10 = 175/(Tc +18.8) 5 < Tc < 15

C= 0.36

L= 540 Ti = 13.2 i10 = 214/(Tc +26.7) 15 < Tc < 60

S= 5.3

K= 1 Tt = 0.90

Tc = 14.1

i10 = 5.31

Q=KCiA

Q= 4.4 cfs

Developed Conditions Area = 2.3 acres Ti = 1.8(1.1-C)L^.5/S^1/3 L max = 300 i10 = 175/(Tc +18.8) 5 < Tc < 15

C= 0.28

L= 540 Ti = 14.6 i10 = 214/(Tc +26.7) 15 < Tc < 60

S= 5.3

K= 1 Tt = 0.90

Tc = 15.5

i10 = 5.07

Q=KCiA

Q= 3.3 cfs



Drainage Area #2 - 100 year

Existing Conditions Area = 2.3 acres Ti = 1.8(1.1-C)L^.5/S^1/3 L max = 300 i100 = 256/(Tc +19.8) 5 < Tc < 15

C= 0.36

L= 540 Ti = 13.2 i100 = 331/(Tc +30) 15 < Tc < 60

S= 5.3

K= 1.25 Tt = 0.90

Tc = 14.1

i100 = 7.54

Q=KCiA

Q= 7.8 cfs

Developed Conditions Area = 2.3 acres Ti = 1.8(1.1-C)L^.5/S^1/3 L max = 300 i100 = 256/(Tc +19.8) 5 < Tc < 15

C= 0.28

L= 540 Ti = 14.6 i100 = 331/(Tc +30) 15 < Tc < 60

S= 5.3

K= 1.25 Tt = 0.90

Tc = 15.5

i100 = 7.27

Q=KCiA

Q= 5.9 cfs



Vicinity map shift
from last submittal. 
Show Evans and
166th Street.

Previous Plat has a
20' U/E and D/E here.
 Should said
easements be
vacated?  If vacated,
verify no utilities in the
easement.

Proposed private roadway
doesn't meet current policy
for roadway spacing and
driveway corner
clearance.

06-02-2021 

OLSSON REVIEW

Suggest adding a 20
UE here in the front of
lots.  Note, this isn't a
LVCO requirement.

Per LVCO, if a high
pressure gas line,
there is an additional
50 foot building
setback from said
easement.

change easement
lines that are being
vacated compared of
proposed.



Sunny Side Estates

732.8

THIS MAP IS NOT TO BE USED FOR NAVIGATION

Feet732.80

Notes

Legend

366.41

1 in. = 366ft.

This Cadastral Map is for informational purposes only.  It does not purport to
represent a property boundary survey of the parcels shown and shall not be

used for conveyances or the establishment of property boundaries.

Address Point

Parcel Number

Lot Line

Parcel

City Limit Line

Major Road

<all other values>

70

Road

Railroad

Section

Section Boundaries

County Boundary



Provide Private
Roadway Name

Appears to be
different line type than
contours.  Label.  Can
it be removed?

Previous Plat has a
20' U/E and D/E here.
 Should said
easements be
vacated?  If vacated,
verify no utilities in the
easement.

Show existing
entrance.  Label said
entrance to be
removed.

Vicinity map shift from
last submittal.  Show
Evans and 166th
Street.

06-02-2021 

OLSSON REVIEW

Aeriel shows existing
fence along Evens
Rd.  Verify.

Proposed private roadway
doesn't meet current policy
for roadway spacing and
driveway corner
clearance.

 Show complete
private roadway and
culdesac.

Per LVCO, if a high
pressure gas line,
there is an additional
50 foot building
setback from said
easement.

change easement
lines that are being
vacated compared of
proposed.



1

Voth, Krystal

From: Mike Lingenfelser <lingenfelserm@fairmountfd.org>

Sent: Tuesday, April 6, 2021 11:05 AM

To: Voth, Krystal

Subject: Re: DEV-21-030/031 Preliminary and Final Plat – Sunny Side Estates

Notice: This email originated from outside this organization. Do not click on links or open attachments unless you trust the sender and know the 
content is safe. 

 
Krystal 
I'm assuming the road will run on the west side of the property. It will require a cul de-sac at the end and fire hydrants at 
the entrance, middle and end. 
Mike Lingenfelser, Fire Chief 
Fairmount Township Fire Department 
2624 N 155th St 
Basehor, Kansas 66007 
Work-913-724-4911  
Cell 913-306-0258 

 
 
On Fri, Apr 2, 2021 at 1:34 PM Voth, Krystal <KVoth@leavenworthcounty.gov> wrote: 

The Leavenworth County Department of Planning and Zoning has received a request for a Preliminary and Final Plat for 
Sunny Side Acres. The plat is located within your service territory and your review is greatly appreciated. .  

  

The Planning Staff would appreciate your written input in consideration of the above request. Please review the 
attached information and forward any comments to us by April 14, 2021.  If you have any questions, please do not 
hesitate to reach out. Thanks and have a great weekend.  

  

  

Respectfully, 

  

Krystal A. Voth, CFM 

Director 

Planning & Zoning  

Leavenworth County 

913.684.0461 

  



June 9, 2021   Leavenworth County Planning Commission 1 

Case No. DEV-21-022 
TNT Baseball 

Special Use Permit – Athletic Training Facility 
***Public Hearing Required*** 

 
Staff Report – Planning Commission  June 9, 2021 

GENERAL INFORMATION: 
 
Applicant/                   Trent West 
Property Owner: 19897 178th Street 

Tonganoxie, KS 66086 
 

Legal Description:      A tract of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 32, Township 10 South, 
Range 22 East of the 6th P.M, in Leavenworth County, Kansas. 

 
Location: 19897 178th Street, Tonganoxie, KS 66086 

 
Parcel Size: ± 12 acres 
 
Zoning/Land Use: RR-2.5, Rural Residential 2.5-acre minimum size parcels 
 
Comprehensive Plan:  This parcel is within the Residential (3 Units / Acre) land use category.   
 
Parcel ID No.:   159-32-0-00-00-018.01 

 
Planner:  Joshua Gentzler 
 

REPORT: 
 

Request   
The applicant is requesting a Special Use Permit for an Athletic Field for a baseball training facility.  
 
Adjacent Land Use 
The surrounding properties are residences and farms on varying sized parcels ranging from 5 acres to over 
80 acres in size.   
 
Flood Plain   
There are is a Special Flood Hazard Areas on this parcel per FEMA Firm Map 20103C0238G July 16, 2015.  
 
Utilities/Services 
Sewer: Private septic system  
Fire: Stranger Township 
Water: Suburban 
Electric: FreeState 
 
Access/Streets  
The property is accessed by 178th Street, a County with a gravel surface ± 22’ wide. 
 
Agency Comments 
See attached comments – Memo – Kyle Anderson – Planning and Zoning, March 3, 2021 
See attached comments – Email – Mitch Pleak – Public Works, May 10, 2021 
See attached comments – Memo – Chuck Magaha – Emergency Management, March 18, 2021 
See attached comments – Email – Janelle Phillips – Kansas Dept. of Water Resources, March 26, 2021 
See attached comments – Email – David Van Parys – County Counselor, March 2, 2021 
See attached comments – Email – Mark Bilquist – Stranger Township Fire Department, March 17, 2021 
See attached comments – Email – Amanda Tarwater – FreeState, March 2, 2021 
 
Factors to be considered 
The following factors are to be considered by the Planning Commission and the Board of County 
Commission when approving or disapproving this Special Use Permit request: 



June 9, 2021   Leavenworth County Planning Commission 2 

1. Character of the neighborhood:  The character of the neighborhood is rural; primarily rural residences, 
and agricultural uses. 

2. Zoning and uses of nearby property:  The surrounding properties are zoned RR-2.5, Rural Residential 
2.5-acre minimum size parcels. The uses are rural residences and agricultural.  

3. Suitability of the property for the uses to which it has been restricted:  The property is within an area 
suited for rural residences and agricultural use. The use is allowed with approval of a Special Use 
Permit. 

4. Extent to which removal of the restrictions will detrimentally affect nearby property:  Nearby property 
could be affected by the dust created by induced demand on the roadway. The applicant states that 
the property could see over 30 vehicle trips per practice. 

5. Length of time the property has been vacant as zoned:  The property is not vacant. 
6. Relative gain to economic development, public health, safety and welfare:  The proposed use will 

provide income for the applicant and a service to the community.  
7. Conformance to the Comprehensive Plan:  The Future Land Use Map indicates this area should be 

developed as a Residential area with a density of 3 Units per Acre.  
8. Staff recommendation is for the denial of the Special Use Permit. 

 

LOCATION 
Adjacent Residences Adjacent residences are rural-suburban uses. The property adjacent to the north 

and west is used as an agricultural property. Property to the east is a 73-acre 
property used as a residential property. The property to the south is an 8-acre 
property used as a residential property.  

Adjacent Zoning/Uses Zoning in the area is RR-2.5 and are used primarily as rural residences and 
agricultural uses. 

Density The area is not densely populated. 

Nearby City Limits The city of Basehor is approximately 1.1 miles to the southeast of the property. 

Initial Growth 
Management Area 

The property is not located within an Urban Growth Management Area. 

 

IMPACT 
Noise Pollution This use will not cause prolonged noise pollution. The primary times of elevated 

noise levels will be on weekday evenings, between 5:00 PM and 8:00 PM, and on 
weekends between 9 AM and 8 PM, when teams and players arrive at the site to 
begin practice inside the facility. 

Traffic The use will create additional traffic in the evenings on weekdays and throughout 
the day on the weekends. Up to 22 vehicles may arrive each evening, during the 
week, and up to 66 vehicles on Saturday and Sunday. These vehicles will return 
at the end of practice to pick up players at the facility. The operation does not 
employ any additional employees. 

Lighting The applicant does not have lighting other than security lighting and is not 
requesting lighting. 

Outdoor Storage The applicant does not store anything outside. 

Parking The applicant has made 12 parking spaces available for the customers and is in 
process of adding additional spaces. The vehicles will arrive in stages at the 
beginning and end of practices. The parking area will not need to serve all 66 
vehicles mentioned above at one time. 

Visitors/Employees Typically, the business schedules at least one practice per day during the winter 
months. This would bring an estimated 9-12 players and coaches per practice, not 
including parents, Over the course of a week, this would equate to an estimated 
63 to 84 customer visits.  

Waste The business generates normal household/commercial waste. 



June 9, 2021   Leavenworth County Planning Commission 3 

 

SITE COMPATABILITY 
Size of Parcel The parcel is twelve (12) acres in size. 

Zoning of Parcel The parcel is zoned Rural Residential-2.5 

Buildings  
(Existing & Proposed) 

The applicant has a building on the property that is approximately 80x60. The 
baseball practices occur within this building.  

Setbacks Existing building meet the required setbacks. 

Screening The property is not fully screened. The property does have an existing tree line on 
the northeast corner of the property providing screening of the house and 
accessory building. 

  
History 

  
This is the applicant’s first request for a Special Use Permit. The need for a Special Use Permit was 
discovered after operations began. The applicant applied for a permit when he was notified of the necessity 
of the permit by County Staff. 
 

Staff Comments   
 

The applicant is currently operating an indoor baseball training facility out of an 80’ x 60’ accessory structure 
located behind his home. The building was permitted and built in 2020. During the permitting process Staff 
was not made aware of the purpose of the building at that time. The applicant has created a secondary 
access and parking area for access to the building from 178th Street. This access is located approximately 
290 feet south of the existing driveway (as seen below).  

 
Figure 1 May 2020 Google Earth Aerial 

 
The parking area is located along the north side of the driveway seen in the aerial above and currently has 
space for 12 vehicles. The applicant has plans to expand the parking space in the future. Parking on-site 
appears adequate for the needs of the business.  
 
The property is located approximately 840 feet south of the paved section of 178th street and the road 
narrows to the north of the property before expanding at the bridge at the southeast corner of the property.  
 
The Stranger Fire Department has been in contact with the applicant to work to bring the parking/access to 
the facility to meet the Fire Department’s requirements. The applicant has agreed to add an additional 
exit/access door to the facility, extending the drive to the building to allow for emergency vehicles to 
maneuver, and adding an all-weather path from the parking area to the building. 
 
The applicant utilizes this building as a training facility for local youth baseball teams. The stated goal for the 
facility is to be the off-season training facility for eight (8) youth baseball teams. The applicant states that the 
facility had over 30 practices each month from January to March, which is their forecasted busiest time of the 
season. Each practice includes nine to 11 vehicles travelling to the site for drop-off and pick-up and therefore 



June 9, 2021   Leavenworth County Planning Commission 4 

induces an estimated 31-39 one-way trips per practice. During the busy season for the applicant, assuming 
seven to eight practices a week based on the applicant’s usage from January through March 2021, this 
would equate to 217 – 312 vehicle trips per week.  
 
Staff has the following concerns regarding the approval of this Special Use Permit:  

1. The potential for growth of the business would place a significant commercial endeavor in the midst 
of an area that is primarily agricultural. The placement of a commercial enterprise in this area could 
cause negative interactions with the surrounding neighbors and conflict with development in the 
future. 

2. The amount of traffic induced by this business could interfere with neighboring properties. 
3. There could be challenges with traffic along 178th Street for both customers and neighbors during 

practice change-over times due to the limited space at this location. 
4. Usage of the property for this purpose does not fit the character of the neighborhood. 

 
The recommendation of Staff is for denial of the Special Use Permit. 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
The staff recommends denial of Case No. DEV-21-022, Special Use Permit for TNT Baseball. Should the 
Planning Commission wish to recommend approval to Case No DEV-21-022, staff recommends approval 
with the following conditions: 
 

1. The SUP shall be limited to a period of five (5) years. 
 
2. The business shall be limited to the hours of 4 PM to 8 PM, Monday through Friday, and 9 AM to 6 

PM on Saturday and Sunday. 
 
3. The SUP shall be limited to no employees other than family. 
 
4. An engineered septic system shall be required for the business. 
 
5. Any modifications to the building and/or parking area shall meet or exceed the Floodplain 

Regulations. All appropriate permits shall be obtained prior to modifications of the building and 
parking area. 

 
6. The applicant shall adhere to the following memorandums:  

a. Chuck Magaha – Emergency Management, March 18, 2021  
b. Mark Billquist – Stranger Township Fire District, March 17, 2021 

 
7. No signage is allowed in the right-of-way.  No signage is requested with the SUP.  All signage shall 

comply with Article 25, Sign Regulations of the Leavenworth County Zoning and Subdivision 
Regulations. 

 
8. No on-street parking shall be allowed. 
 
9. This SUP shall be limited to the Narrative dated February 25, 2021 submitted with this application. 
 
10. This SUP shall comply with all local, state, and federal rules and regulations that may be applicable. 

After approval of this SUP by the Board of County Commission all conditions listed shall be adhered 
to and copies shall be provided to the Planning and Zoning Department within 30 days. 
 



June 9, 2021   Leavenworth County Planning Commission 5 

ACTION OPTIONS: 
 

1. Recommend approval of Case No. DEV-21-022, Special Use Permit for TNT Baseball to the Board of 
County Commission, with Findings of Fact, and with or without conditions; or 
 

2. Recommend denial of Case No. DEV-21-022, Special Use Permit for TNT Baseball, to the Board of 
County Commission, with Findings of Fact; or  

 
3. Continue the Public hearing to another date, time, and place. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Narrative 
Location/Aerial Maps 
Memorandums  
 

 



DEV-21-022 TNT Baseball SUP

385.6

THIS MAP IS NOT TO BE USED FOR NAVIGATION

Feet385.60

Notes

Legend

192.82

1 in. = 193ft.

This Cadastral Map is for informational purposes only.  It does not purport to
represent a property boundary survey of the parcels shown and shall not be

used for conveyances or the establishment of property boundaries.

Address Point

Parcel Number

Lot Line

Parcel

City Limit Line

Major Road

<all other values>

70

Road

Railroad

Section

Section Boundaries

County Boundary







RESPONSES FROM TNT BASEBALL ACADEMY, LLC

Staff Comments

1. Generally speaking, we expect facility usage to be seasonal with the peak of activity
expected in the winter months (January through March). While we have the ability to
accommodate up to 6 time slots on Saturday and Sunday and 2 slots on weekdays, we
have not, and do not expect to, run at maximum capacity even in the peak season.
Please refer to question 3 for more information on expected facility usage.

2. The facility is intended to be used by one team at a time with an average of 11 kids and
2-3 coach/parents in the facility at a time.

3. We have provided two scenarios below to estimate the expected range of vehicle trips.

Scenario 1 – Expectation based off of current activity

Below is what we expect usage to be by month based on actual activity to date and
projected usage for the remainder of the 2021:

● January – 33 practices
● February – 37 practices
● March – 33 practices
● April – 15 practices
● May – 13 practices
● June – 14 practices
● July – 4 practices
● August – 8 practices
● September – 13 practices
● October - 15 practices
● November – 12 practices
● December – 9 practices

We expect an average of 11 cars per practice and expect that 25% of the cars will drop
off and return to pick up (i.e. 4 trips vs 2 trips for those that stay). Based on this activity,
we estimate that over the course of a year, there will be 16 vehicle trips per day.

Total # of practices 206

Avg # of cars per practice 11

Total # of cars 2,266

# of cars per day 6

Total # of trips (assuming 25% leave and return) 5,665

# of trips per day (assuming 25% leave and return) 16



Scenario 2 – Expectation based on long-term growth

Our long-term goal is to bring local teams at varying age levels under the TNT brand. We
currently have 3 teams under the TNT brand and other non-TNT teams that rent the
facility for practice. Our goal is to have up to 8 teams under the TNT brand which would
substantially reduce or eliminate the ad hoc rental of the facility. If and when we are able
to achieve this goal, we would estimate that the maximum vehicle trips per day over
the course of a year would be 36.

Total # of practices 472

Avg # of cars per practice 11

Total # of cars 5,192

# of cars per day 14

Total # of trips (assuming 25% leave and return) 12,980

# of trips per day (assuming 25% leave and return) 36

4. All trips are expected to be passenger vehicles. We do not expect any large trucks,
equipment, trailers, loads or deliveries. Vehicle trips are expected to occur between the
hours of 9 am to 8 pm on Saturdays and Sundays and 5 pm – 8 pm on weekdays. We
do not have staff beyond the owners who reside on the property.

5. We do not expect to expand the number of employees beyond the owners who reside on
the property.

6. This was addressed as part of the building permit process. Please refer to Leavenworth
County Residential Permit attached.

7. Proof of insurance will be provided as and when requested by the County.

FEMA Comments

1. The building was erected outside of the floodplain which was also addressed for building
permit approval. Please refer to Leavenworth County Residential Permit attached.

Stranger Township Fire Department Comments

1. We will add an additional exit on the North side of the building to address this concern.
2. We will add a pathway for emergency vehicles to access the building from the end of the

existing cul de sac.
3. Per further discussion with the Tonganoxie fire chief, we believe there is adequate

parking for the expected traffic volume.
4. Sanitary facilities are located in the residence. We are always home when the building is

used and have allowed for this access without issue. The residence has 3 bathrooms
that can be used.



 
 

County of Leavenworth  
Planning & Zoning Department 

300 Walnut, Suite 212 

Leavenworth, Kansas 66048 

Phone: 913-684-0465 
 

Leavenworth County Planning and Zoning Department 
Leavenworth County Courthouse 

300 Walnut Suite 212 Leavenworth, Kansas 66048 

March 12, 2021 
 
To: Trent West  
 TNT Baseball 
 19897 178th Street 
 Tonganoxie, KS 66068 
 
Re: Special Use Permit 
 DEV-21-021 
  
Mr. West, 
 
Staff has reviewed the application and narrative for TNT Baseball, which was submitted on February 23rd, 2021.   

 

Upon review of your application, Staff has the following comments: 

 

1. The narrative indicates you expect teams to schedule start and stop times. How many time slots are 

you making available each day, Monday through Friday? How many time slots are you making available 

on Saturday and Sundays?  

2. How many people will be using the facility at a time?  

3. Provide vehicle trips generated by the SUP. A trip is defined as a single– or one-directional vehicle 

movement with either to or from the SUP’s site. A vehicle coming to the site is one trip and the same 

vehicle leaving the site is a second trip.  

4. Trips shall include the type anticipated vehicles per day for each type of vehicle (passenger, trucks, 

types of trucks, large equipment, trailers, and loads). Trips shall include customers, staff, deliveries, or 

other vehicles needed for the special uses permit. In general, provide time frames per day when the 

detailed vehicle trips will occur.  

5. Do you expect to increase the number of employees over the next 5 years? 

6. An existing above ground electrical transmission line is near the proposed building. Electrical lines 

are placed in easements. Provide documentation the building is outside the easement. 

7. Should the Board of County Commissioners approve your application, you will be required to 

provide the County with proof of insurance.  

 

As much of your property is in a FEMA delineated Floodplain, your plan was sent to the Kansas Department of 

Agriculture for review by the Division of Water Resources. The following comment was sent by the Division:  

 

1. The proposed location of the building is within a FEMA delineated Floodplain. The building must 

be elevated so that the finish floor is 1 foot above Base Flood Elevation.   A state permit will be 

required to place fill in the floodplain.    



To address this comment, you can provide evidence that demonstrates that the building was built outside 

the floodplain. 

The Stranger Township Fire Department had the following comments: 

Stranger Township Fire Department does not recommend the granting of this Special Use Permit due to 

following concerns:  

1) Lack of adequate exiting  

2) Fire Department Access Restriction  

3) Lack of Adequate parking  

4) No Sanitary Facilities 

 

These comments from the Fire Department will also be considered by the Planning Commission during 

their review of your application. You can contact the Stranger Township Fire Department with any 

questions you have for remediation of the concerns listed above. 

 

Please provide the revisions and information indicated above by March 19, 2021. If the revision and 

information is not received by then, the case will be continued and rescheduled. 

 

If you have any questions or need additional information, please contact me at (913) 684-0464 or at 

JGentzler@LeavenworthCounty.Gov. 

Respectfully, 

 

 

Joshua Gentzler 

Planner II 

Planning and Zoning  

Leavenworth County 



From:                                         Gentzler, Joshua
Sent:                                           Monday, April 19, 2021 4:51 PM
To:                                               'Trent West'
Cc:                                               erika.d.west@pwc.com
Subject:                                     RE: DEV-21-022 Comments
 

Good a�ernoon Trent,
 
We will need Evergy to provide us their results when their survey is complete.
 
Our ques�ons about your growth is to determine when you hope to reach that maximum of 8
teams. Do you es�mate or expect to be able to reach that goal in 2 years, 5 years, or 10 years? We
understand that business plans change with new circumstances, but we are trying to gauge the
development of your business and how that could affect the area in the future.
 
Thank you,
 
Joshua Gentzler
Planning & Zoning
 
From: Trent West <trentwest75@yahoo.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 14, 2021 9:35 AM
To: Gentzler, Joshua <JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov>
Cc: erika.d.west@pwc.com
Subject: Re: DEV-21-022 Comments
 
No�ce: This email originated from outside this organiza�on. Do not click on links or open a�achments unless you trust
the sender and know the content is safe.
 
I will have evergy do a site survey to show that we are within tolerance of Evergy's easement. As
far as "explosive growth" as you stated in the past 3 months and concern about 2 years Doreen
the road. Our goal is 8 teams which is explicitly stated in scenario two. In bold le�ers it states,
"maximum vehicle troops per day over the course of a year would be 36" under this scenario. Not
sure where you're confused.
Semper Fi
Trent

Sent from my iPhone
 

On Apr 14, 2021, at 8:54 AM, Gentzler, Joshua wrote:

Good morning Trent and Erika,
Give me a call as quickly as you can this morning. Public Works reviewed the
informa�on you sent over and we need to talk about how we can proceed.

Thank you,
Joshua Gentzler
Planning & Zoning

From: Trent West 
Sent: Tuesday, April 13, 2021 11:48 AM
To: Erika West (US - IFS) 

mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:trentwest75@yahoo.com
mailto:erika.d.west@pwc.com
https://www.leavenworthcounty.gov/departments/planning___zoning/index.php
https://www.leavenworthcounty.gov/departments/planning___zoning/index.php


Cc: Gentzler, Joshua 
Subject: Re: DEV-21-022 Comments
No�ce: This email originated from outside this organiza�on. Do not click on links or open a�achments
unless you trust the sender and know the content is safe.
Josh, can you fwd the memos from Chuck and Mark, when �me permits. Thank you

Sent from my iPhone

On Apr 13, 2021, at 11:37 AM, Erika West (US - IFS) wrote:

Hi Joshua -

Please find below the breakdown of prac�ces by month under Scenario
2. Please let me know if you have any ques�ons.
Thanks!
Erika West
On Tue, Apr 13, 2021 at 8:45 AM Trent West
<trentwest75@yahoo.com> wrote:

Hi Joshua, please see a�ached. I will try to get a breakdown of
prac�ces sent to you today per your request.
Sent from my iPhone

On Apr 8, 2021, at 12:13 PM, Trent West
<trentwest75@yahoo.com> wrote:

Sent from my iPhone

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Gentzler, Joshua"
<JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov>
Date: April 8, 2021 at 11:59:40 AM CDT
To: Trent West
<trentwest75@yahoo.com>
Subject: DEV-21-022 Comments

Trent,
As I men�oned yesterday, we did meet
with PW and engineering on your project.
We’ve got the following
ques�ons/comments:

Please confirm the following: In
scenario 1, February is the busiest
month with 37 prac�ces. As stated
there is 11 cars per prac�ce or 22
trips (one way direc�ons). 25% of

mailto:trentwest75@yahoo.com
mailto:trentwest75@yahoo.com
mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:trentwest75@yahoo.com


the 11 cars will leave and come
back to pick up there kids. This
25% of the vehicles is 3 vehicles or
6 trips. In a prac�ce there is 28
total trips.

Please submit a breakdown of
prac�ces per month in scenario 2,
like you did for scenario 1.

In addi�on, we have looked through our
files for the building permit for the email
about the power line easement. We do
not have that email. Can you provide a
copy of it?
Thanks,
Joshua Gentzler
Planner II
Planning & Zoning
Leavenworth County
913.684.0464

The informa�on transmi�ed, including any a�achments, is intended
only for the person or en�ty to which it is addressed and may contain
confiden�al and/or privileged material. Any review, retransmission,
dissemina�on or other use of, or taking of any ac�on in reliance upon,
this informa�on by persons or en��es other than the intended
recipient is prohibited, and all liability arising therefrom is disclaimed. If
you received this in error, please contact the sender and delete the
material from any computer.
In the event the content of this email includes Tax advice, the content
of this email is limited to the ma�ers specifically addressed herein and
is not intended to address other poten�al tax consequences or the
poten�al applica�on of tax penal�es to this or any other ma�er.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is a Delaware limited liability partnership.
This communica�on may come from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP or
one of its subsidiaries.

https://www.leavenworthcounty.gov/departments/planning___zoning/index.php


From:                                         Mitch Pleak
Sent:                                           Monday, May 10, 2021 9:34 AM
To:                                               Gentzler, Joshua
Cc:                                               Anderson, Lauren; Noll, Bill; Voth, Krystal; 019-2831
Subject:                                     DEV-21-022 - TNT Baseball
 

No�ce: This email originated from outside this organiza�on. Do not click on links or open a�achments unless you trust
the sender and know the content is safe.
 
All,
Olsson has reviewed the applica�on from the aspect of impacts to 178th Street (gravel roadway)
and proposed traffic. The applica�on provided two scenarios of traffic genera�on. LVCO Staff
confirmed the applicant requested Scenario 2 to be used for the SUP. Scenario 2 has more traffic
genera�on than Scenario 1. Below is the break out of prac�ces per month provided by the
applicant.
 

 
From the SUP applica�on narra�ve, below is planned trips per month:

11 cars per prac�ce and expect that 25% of the cars will drop off and return to pick up.
11+11+(0.25x11)+(0.25x11) = 28 trips per prac�ce
(472 prac�ces x 28 trips per prac�ce)/365 days = 36.2 trips per day over the year.

 

Scenario 2 -
Prac�ces per
Month

Days
per
Month

Trips
per
Prac�ce

Trips
per Day
per the
Month

Jan 80 31 28 72
Feb 64 28 28 64
March 48 31 28 43
April 32 30 28 30
May 40 31 28 36
June 32 30 28 30
July 20 31 28 18
August 28 31 28 25

mailto:mpleak@olsson.com
mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:LAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:BNoll@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:KVoth@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:019-2831@olsson.com


Sept. 32 30 28 30
October 40 31 28 36
November 32 30 28 30
December 24 31 28 22
Total
Prac�ces 472

 
Jan and Feb are the only months over 50 trips per day.
 
Per the requirements of the TIF policy:

50 or more passenger trips per day requires a traffic impact study and physical roadway
assessment along said proposed gravel road.
In the general requirements in the policy, the County Engineer is allowed to review the
applica�on to determine if studies and/or assessments, based on sound engineering
judgement, are required.

 
Olsson has completed an ini�al review with findings below:

Physical Roadway Assessment: Traffic generated is passenger cars only. With the majority of
the months seeing less than 50 trips per day, it is Olsson’s opinion, a physical roadway
assessment is not warranted.
Structural Storm Culver Assessment: All traffic genera�on is passenger vehicles. It is
Olsson’s opinion, a structural storm culver assessment is not warranted.
Traffic Impact Study: The majority of the months seeing less than 50 trips per day, it is
Olsson’s opinion, a traffic impact study is not warranted. The applicant should provide
adequate parking within their site.
In the future, if the facility use changes (increased trips due to addi�onal prac�ces, year
round use, etc) the County should retain their ability to review the applica�on again.

 
Please let me know of any ques�ons.
 
Sincerely,

Mitch Pleak, PE
Project Engineer / Civil

D 913.748.2503

7301 W. 133rd Street, Suite 200
Overland Park, KS 66213
O 913.381.1170

Follow Us: Facebook / Twi�er / Instagram / LinkedIn / YouTube

View Legal Disclaimer

https://www.olsson.com/
https://www.facebook.com/WeAreOlsson/
https://twitter.com/olsson_tweets
https://www.instagram.com/weareolsson/
https://www.linkedin.com/company/weareolsson/
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCfCGdcQ8yP3YoP2CgSSw2uw
https://www.olsson.com/disclaimer


From:                                         Van Parys, David
Sent:                                           Tuesday, March 2, 2021 8:07 AM
To:                                               Gentzler, Joshua
Cc:                                               Voth, Krystal
Subject:                                     RE: DEV-21-022 Special Use Permit - TNT Baseball Academy
 

Ligh�ng and traffic would appear to be the primary concerns.  Fortunately for me, they are out of
my purview. 
 
From: Gentzler, Joshua 
Sent: Monday, March 1, 2021 5:35 PM
To: Mark Bilquist (s�dchief1760@gmail.com) ; Amanda Holloway
(Amanda.holloway@freestate.coop) ; 'Travis@SuburbanWaterInc.com' ; Janelle Phillips
(Janelle.Phillips@ks.gov) ; Anderson, Kyle ; Anderson, Lauren ; Magaha, Chuck ; Miller, Jamie ;
Mitch Pleak ; Thorne, Eric ; Van Parys, David 
Subject: DEV-21-022 Special Use Permit - TNT Baseball Academy
 
The Department of Planning and Zoning has received an applica�on for a Special Use Permit for a
Commercial Athle�c Field. This is a ba�ng cage/prac�ce facility for baseball/so�ball players,
located at 19897 178th Street, Tonganoxie, KS 66086.
 
The Planning Staff would appreciate your wri�en input in considera�on of the above request.
Please review the a�ached informa�on and forward any comments to us by Tuesday, March 9th.
 
If you have any ques�ons or need addi�onal informa�on, please contact me at (913) 684-0464 or
at Jgentzler@LeavenworthCounty.Gov.
 
Thank you,
 
Joshua Gentzler
Planner II
Planning & Zoning
Leavenworth County
913.684.0464
 
 

mailto:DVanParys@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:KVoth@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:Jgentzler@LeavenworthCounty.Gov
https://www.leavenworthcounty.gov/departments/planning___zoning/index.php


1

Gentzler, Joshua

From: Amanda Tarwater <amanda.holloway@freestate.coop>
Sent: Tuesday, March 2, 2021 8:15 AM
To: Gentzler, Joshua
Subject: Re: DEV-21-022 Special Use Permit - TNT Baseball Academy

Notice: This email originated from outside this organization. Do not click on links or open attachments unless you trust the sender and know the 
content is safe. 
 
FreeState Electric has no objection to this request. 
 
 
 
Thank you, 
 

 
Amanda Tarwater 
Member Account Coordinator 

  

 

 

1-800-794-1989 | www.freestate.coop 
 

From: "Gentzler, Joshua" <JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov> 
Date: Monday, March 1, 2021 at 5:35 PM 
To: "Mark Bilquist (stfdchief1760@gmail.com)" <stfdchief1760@gmail.com>, Amanda Tarwater 
<amanda.holloway@freestate.coop>, "'Travis@SuburbanWaterInc.com'" <Travis@SuburbanWaterInc.com>, 
"Janelle Phillips (Janelle.Phillips@ks.gov)" <Janelle.Phillips@ks.gov>, "Anderson, Kyle" 
<KAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov>, "Anderson, Lauren" <LAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov>, "Magaha, 
Chuck" <CMagaha@leavenworthcounty.gov>, "Miller, Jamie" <JMiller@leavenworthcounty.gov>, Mitch Pleak 
<MPleak@olsson.com>, "Thorne, Eric" <ethorne@leavenworthcounty.gov>, "Van Parys, David" 
<DVanParys@leavenworthcounty.gov> 
Subject: DEV-21-022 Special Use Permit - TNT Baseball Academy 
 
  

Warning: This message originated outside of the FEC organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you have 
validated the sender and know the content is safe. <="" span=""> 

The Department of Planning and Zoning has received an application for a Special Use Permit for a Commercial Athletic 
Field. This is a batting cage/practice facility for baseball/softball players, located at 19897 178th Street, Tonganoxie, KS 
66086. 
  
The Planning Staff would appreciate your written input in consideration of the above request. Please review the 
attached information and forward any comments to us by Tuesday, March 9th.  
  



2

If you have any questions or need additional information, please contact me at (913) 684-0464 or at 
Jgentzler@LeavenworthCounty.Gov. 
  
Thank you, 
  
Joshua Gentzler 
Planner II 
Planning & Zoning 
Leavenworth County 
913.684.0464 
  
  



 
 

Leavenworth County 
Planning & Zoning Department 

300 Walnut, Suite 212 
Leavenworth, Kansas 66048 

 
 
To:  Krystal Voth 

Director 
 
From:  Kyle Anderson 
  Environmental Tech/Code Enforcement  
 
Date: March 3, 2021 
 
RE: Trent West 
 Case DEV-21-022, Special Use Permit  

19897 178th St  
Tonganoxie, KS 66086 
PID# 159-32-0-00-00-018.01 

 

Our department received a Special Use Permit application for TNT Baseball Academy 

at the above listed location. This business was found to be operating without a SUP, 

however, when a letter was sent to Mr. West he immediately contacted me to determine 

what needed to be done to get the property into compliance. A SUP application was 

submitted promptly.  

Thank you, 

 

Kyle Anderson 
kanderson@leavenworthcounty.gov 

mailto:kanderson@leavenworthcounty.gov


From:                                         Mark Billquist

Sent:                                           Wednesday, March 17, 2021 3:31 PM

To:                                               Gentzler, Joshua

Subject:                                     Re: DEV-21-022 Special Use Permit - TNT Baseball Academy

 

No�ce: This email originated from outside this organiza�on. Do not click on links or open a�achments unless you trust
the sender and know the content is safe.

 

1) Lack of adequate exi�ng - Construct a second separate walk through exit from the building.

 

2) Fire Department Access Restric�on - Construct an all weather path from the parking area to the
building

 

3) Lack of Adequate parking - Improve parking area to allow enough space for emergency vehicles
to maneuver

 

4) No Sanitary Facili�es - install a bathroom in the building or place a portable toilet next to it.

 

On Wed, Mar 17, 2021 at 3:24 PM Gentzler, Joshua <JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov> wrote:

Mr. Billquist,

Great, glad to hear it. So we have record of this, what are the ways the applicant can address
your original concerns?

Joshua Gentzler

Planning & Zoning

From: Mark Billquist <s�dchief1760@gmail.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, March 16, 2021 3:26 PM
To: Gentzler, Joshua <JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov>
Subject: Re: DEV-21-022 Special Use Permit - TNT Baseball Academy

No�ce: This email originated from outside this organiza�on. Do not click on links or open a�achments unless you
trust the sender and know the content is safe.

Mr. Gentzler,

Yes, I spoke with John Zimbelman who is the friend and also Fire Chief in Tonganoxie. We spoke
about my sugges�ons and John was going to see that each was addressed by the property

mailto:stfdchief1760@gmail.com
mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov
https://www.leavenworthcounty.gov/departments/planning___zoning/index.php
mailto:stfdchief1760@gmail.com
mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov


owner. In regards to #4, it was suggested that a porta po�y be placed near the building. It was
also agreed that an all weather side walk be placed between the parking area and the building,
that the parking area be improved, and that another walk through doorway be built.

I know Chief Zimbleman and feel that he will be able to communicate these needs to the
owner. Call me if you have any ques�ons or concerns. 913-369-0510

Mark Billquist

On Tue, Mar 16, 2021 at 3:11 PM Gentzler, Joshua <JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov> wrote:

Hi Mark,

I just got off the phone with the applicant on this case. Have you been approached by a
friend of the Mr. West’s to discuss how the property could address your concerns? Mr. West
said that had occurred. If so could you provide the details on what was relayed to Mr. West
or his friend?

In addi�on, how would you suggest the applicant could address your concerns for the use of
the property? In regards to concern 4, the applicant does open his home to the teams when
the necessity arises. Would that sa�sfy your concern?

If you have any ques�ons, please feel free to reach out via email or phone (913-684-0464).

Thank you,

Joshua Gentzler

Planning & Zoning

From: Mark Billquist <s�dchief1760@gmail.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, March 9, 2021 2:40 PM
To: Gentzler, Joshua <JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov>
Cc: Amanda Holloway (Amanda.holloway@freestate.coop)
<Amanda.holloway@freestate.coop>; Travis@SuburbanWaterInc.com; Janelle Phillips
(Janelle.Phillips@ks.gov) <Janelle.Phillips@ks.gov>; Anderson, Kyle
<KAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Anderson, Lauren
<LAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Magaha, Chuck
<CMagaha@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Miller, Jamie <JMiller@leavenworthcounty.gov>;
Mitch Pleak <MPleak@olsson.com>; Thorne, Eric <ethorne@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Van
Parys, David <DVanParys@leavenworthcounty.gov>
Subject: Re: DEV-21-022 Special Use Permit - TNT Baseball Academy

No�ce: This email originated from outside this organiza�on. Do not click on links or open a�achments unless you
trust the sender and know the content is safe.

Stranger Township Fire Department does not recommend the gran�ng of this Special Use
Permit due to following concerns:

1) Lack of adequate exi�ng

2) Fire Department Access Restric�on

3) Lack of Adequate parking

4) No Sanitary Facili�es

mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov
https://www.leavenworthcounty.gov/departments/planning___zoning/index.php
mailto:stfdchief1760@gmail.com
mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:Amanda.holloway@freestate.coop
mailto:Amanda.holloway@freestate.coop
mailto:Travis@SuburbanWaterInc.com
mailto:Janelle.Phillips@ks.gov
mailto:Janelle.Phillips@ks.gov
mailto:KAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:LAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:CMagaha@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:JMiller@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:MPleak@olsson.com
mailto:ethorne@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:DVanParys@leavenworthcounty.gov


I can provide further details if needed.

Mark Billquist

Stranger Township Fire Chief

On Mon, Mar 1, 2021 at 5:35 PM Gentzler, Joshua <JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov>
wrote:

The Department of Planning and Zoning has received an applica�on for a Special Use
Permit for a Commercial Athle�c Field. This is a ba�ng cage/prac�ce facility for
baseball/so�ball players, located at 19897 178th Street, Tonganoxie, KS 66086.

The Planning Staff would appreciate your wri�en input in considera�on of the above
request. Please review the a�ached informa�on and forward any comments to us by
Tuesday, March 9th.

If you have any ques�ons or need addi�onal informa�on, please contact me at (913) 684-
0464 or at Jgentzler@LeavenworthCounty.Gov.

Thank you,

Joshua Gentzler

Planner II

Planning & Zoning

Leavenworth County

913.684.0464

--

Mark Billquist
Stranger Township Fire Chief

Midwest Regional Treasurer 10-33 Founda�on 
913-369-0510 mobile
s�dchief1760@gmail.com

"Sometimes your joy is the source of your smile, but sometimes your smile
can be the source of your joy.” – Thich Nhat Hanh

--

Mark Billquist
Stranger Township Fire Chief

Midwest Regional Treasurer 10-33 Founda�on 
913-369-0510 mobile
s�dchief1760@gmail.com

mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:Jgentzler@LeavenworthCounty.Gov
https://www.leavenworthcounty.gov/departments/planning___zoning/index.php
tel:913-369-0510
mailto:stfdchief1760@gmail.com
tel:913-369-0510
mailto:stfdchief1760@gmail.com


"Sometimes your joy is the source of your smile, but sometimes your smile
can be the source of your joy.” – Thich Nhat Hanh

 

 

--

Mark Billquist
Stranger Township Fire Chief

Midwest Regional Treasurer 10-33 Founda�on 
913-369-0510 mobile
s�dchief1760@gmail.com

 

"Sometimes your joy is the source of your smile, but sometimes your smile can
be the source of your joy.” – Thich Nhat Hanh

tel:913-369-0510
mailto:stfdchief1760@gmail.com


Trent west Baseball facility 

MEMO 

 

To: Krystal Voth 

From: Chuck Magaha 

Subject: Baseball facility 

Date: April 8, 2021 

 

 

 

Krystal, thank you for the opportunity in review the recent special use permit submitted 

by Trent West for an additional building to add to their current Parcel. The suggestion I have 

would be the requirement of a contingent plan for the applicant in all hazard planning pertaining 

to their facility. The center would be responsible to provide safe shelter in the event of dangerous 

weather or other emergencies. The applicant needs to consider fire protection, IE. Escape routes 

posted, notification procedures and emergency contacts to be posted throughout the facilities. 

The applicant needs to be able to address the public during severe weather, sheltering in the event 

of tornados or high winds or flood. An all hazard weather radio needs to be placed in the facility 

and monitored for impending alerts that may affect the area.  Smoke detectors placed throughout 

the gathering points of the center. A sign posted on the outside of the facility of emergency 

contacts for emergency responders to make contact if the applicant is not present during the 

emergency.   I would caution that this parcel sits on a flood way for the creek that runs adjacent 

to the location of this facility. They would have to meet the flood criteria as set out through our 

NFIP.  I have no further comments to make at this time. 



From:                                         Phillips, Janelle [KDA]
Sent:                                           Friday, March 26, 2021 3:50 PM
To:                                               Gentzler, Joshua
Subject:                                     RE: DEV-21-022 Special Use Permit - TNT Baseball Academy
 

No�ce: This email originated from outside this organiza�on. Do not click on links or open a�achments unless you trust
the sender and know the content is safe.
 
Based on this informa�on it appears that Leavenworth County issued a permit for the building
that was not in the floodplain, therefore a state permit is not required.
 
 
Janelle Phillips, P.E.*, CFM
Stream Obstruc�on Team Lead
Water Structures Program
Division of Water Resources
Kansas Department of Agriculture
1320 Research Park Drive
Manha�an, KS 66502
Office:785-564-6656
Cell: 785-307-8292
Janelle.phillips@ks.gov
*licensed in KS, MO, CO
 
 
 
 
From: Gentzler, Joshua [mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov] 
Sent: Friday, March 26, 2021 2:22 PM
To: Phillips, Janelle [KDA] 
Subject: RE: DEV-21-022 Special Use Permit - TNT Baseball Academy
 

EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organiza�on. Do not click any links or open
any a�achments unless you trust the sender and know the content is safe.

Janelle,
 
This is an exis�ng building. It was built in 2020.
 
He submi�ed a site plan in 2020 that I’ve a�ached to this email. Its pre�y hard to read, but on the
plan, the building was supposed to be built in the back corner as close to the property line as he
could (15 feet from the west boundary and north boundary line). He says that he stayed out of the
floodplain because he knew about it and Kyle warned him that he needed to stay out of the
floodplain. We don’t inspect buildings and can’t verify that the building was put where he said it
would be, but the Applicant was aware of the presence/loca�on of the floodplain and told us he
would place it out of the floodplain.
 
Hope that helps,
 
Joshua Gentzler
Planning & Zoning
 

mailto:Janelle.Phillips@ks.gov
mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:Janelle.phillips@ks.gov
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.leavenworthcounty.gov%2Fdepartments%2Fplanning___zoning%2Findex.php&data=04%7C01%7CJanelle.Phillips%40ks.gov%7C307d80caa0854c87536608d8f08c6735%7Cdcae8101c92d480cbc43c6761ccccc5a%7C0%7C0%7C637523833262514092%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=%2F6cdjwiPK97SG4WfHE6PiahKRrsDQkkWKm9mcG9NRGQ%3D&reserved=0


From: Phillips, Janelle [KDA] <Janelle.Phillips@ks.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, March 25, 2021 3:55 PM
To: Gentzler, Joshua <JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov>
Subject: RE: DEV-21-022 Special Use Permit - TNT Baseball Academy
 
No�ce: This email originated from outside this organiza�on. Do not click on links or open a�achments unless you trust
the sender and know the content is safe.
 
Joshua –
 
I am very confused. Is the building exis�ng or proposed? It appears that a building permit was
already issued for the building by Kyle Anderson. Do you have a site plan to go with that permit?
 
 
Janelle Phillips, P.E.*, CFM
Stream Obstruc�on Team Lead
Water Structures Program
Division of Water Resources
Kansas Department of Agriculture
1320 Research Park Drive
Manha�an, KS 66502
Office:785-564-6656
Cell: 785-307-8292
Janelle.phillips@ks.gov
*licensed in KS, MO, CO
 
 
 
 

From: Gentzler, Joshua [mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov] 
Sent: Thursday, March 25, 2021 3:29 PM
To: Phillips, Janelle [KDA] <Janelle.Phillips@ks.gov>
Subject: RE: DEV-21-022 Special Use Permit - TNT Baseball Academy
 

EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organiza�on. Do not click any links or open
any a�achments unless you trust the sender and know the content is safe.

Janelle,
 
We’ve heard back from the applicant on this project and a�ached his response to this email. I’ve
also a�ached the applicant’s building permit applica�on (RES-20-052) which he references. How
would you like us to proceed?
 
Joshua Gentzler
Planning & Zoning
 

From: Phillips, Janelle [KDA] <Janelle.Phillips@ks.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, March 2, 2021 11:35 AM
To: Gentzler, Joshua <JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov>
Subject: RE: DEV-21-022 Special Use Permit - TNT Baseball Academy
 
No�ce: This email originated from outside this organiza�on. Do not click on links or open a�achments unless you trust
the sender and know the content is safe.

mailto:Janelle.Phillips@ks.gov
mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:Janelle.phillips@ks.gov
mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:Janelle.Phillips@ks.gov
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.leavenworthcounty.gov%2Fdepartments%2Fplanning___zoning%2Findex.php&data=04%7C01%7CJanelle.Phillips%40ks.gov%7C307d80caa0854c87536608d8f08c6735%7Cdcae8101c92d480cbc43c6761ccccc5a%7C0%7C0%7C637523833262743091%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=8t9a3JKmBmsuGVR6m5nY9OGhJf8DgcbYvV3dDpB6cOU%3D&reserved=0
mailto:Janelle.Phillips@ks.gov
mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov


 
I see it. Tell him to redesign it to not be in the floodplain at all including the parking lot and drive
or hire a surveyor.
 
From: Gentzler, Joshua [mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov] 
Sent: Tuesday, March 2, 2021 11:30 AM
To: Phillips, Janelle [KDA] 
Subject: RE: DEV-21-022 Special Use Permit - TNT Baseball Academy
 

EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organiza�on. Do not click any links or open
any a�achments unless you trust the sender and know the content is safe.

Janelle,
 
One last thing before I tell him that he needs to get a surveyor to prove the building is out of the
floodplain. Did you see the applicant’s markup on page six of the applica�on? He es�mates the
building there and our code inves�gator says his drawing is slightly too large and out of scale for
the actual size of the building.
 
Thanks for bearing with my ques�ons.
 
Joshua Gentzler
Planning & Zoning
 
From: Phillips, Janelle [KDA] <Janelle.Phillips@ks.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, March 2, 2021 10:26 AM
To: Gentzler, Joshua <JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Mark Bilquist
(s�dchief1760@gmail.com) <s�dchief1760@gmail.com>; Amanda Holloway
(Amanda.holloway@freestate.coop) <Amanda.holloway@freestate.coop>;
'Travis@SuburbanWaterInc.com' <Travis@SuburbanWaterInc.com>; Anderson, Kyle
<KAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Anderson, Lauren <LAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov>;
Magaha, Chuck <CMagaha@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Miller, Jamie
<JMiller@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Mitch Pleak <MPleak@olsson.com>; Thorne, Eric
<ethorne@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Van Parys, David <DVanParys@leavenworthcounty.gov>
Subject: RE: DEV-21-022 Special Use Permit - TNT Baseball Academy
 
No�ce: This email originated from outside this organiza�on. Do not click on links or open a�achments unless you trust
the sender and know the content is safe.
 
The proposed loca�on of the building is within a FEMA delineated Floodplain. The building must
be elevated so that the finish floor is 1 foot above Base Flood Eleva�on. A state permit will be
required to place fill in the floodplain.
 
 
Janelle Phillips, P.E.*, CFM
Stream Obstruc�on Team Lead
Water Structures Program
Division of Water Resources
Kansas Department of Agriculture
1320 Research Park Drive
Manha�an, KS 66502
Office:785-564-6656
Cell: 785-307-8292

mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.leavenworthcounty.gov%2Fdepartments%2Fplanning___zoning%2Findex.php&data=04%7C01%7CJanelle.Phillips%40ks.gov%7C307d80caa0854c87536608d8f08c6735%7Cdcae8101c92d480cbc43c6761ccccc5a%7C0%7C0%7C637523833262753047%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=9sbxON4cbhbvl5S6Su4aXMduXvfJIA8TG1ba%2B3M7slA%3D&reserved=0
mailto:Janelle.Phillips@ks.gov
mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:stfdchief1760@gmail.com
mailto:stfdchief1760@gmail.com
mailto:Amanda.holloway@freestate.coop
mailto:Amanda.holloway@freestate.coop
mailto:Travis@SuburbanWaterInc.com
mailto:KAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:LAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:CMagaha@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:JMiller@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:MPleak@olsson.com
mailto:ethorne@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:DVanParys@leavenworthcounty.gov


Janelle.phillips@ks.gov
*licensed in KS, MO, CO
 
 
 
 
From: Gentzler, Joshua [mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov] 
Sent: Monday, March 1, 2021 5:35 PM
To: Mark Bilquist (s�dchief1760@gmail.com) ; Amanda Holloway
(Amanda.holloway@freestate.coop) ; 'Travis@SuburbanWaterInc.com' ; Phillips, Janelle [KDA] ;
Anderson, Kyle ; Anderson, Lauren ; Chuck Magaha ; Miller, Jamie ; Mitch Pleak ; Thorne, Eric ; Van
Parys, David 
Subject: DEV-21-022 Special Use Permit - TNT Baseball Academy
 

EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the organiza�on. Do not click any links or open
any a�achments unless you trust the sender and know the content is safe.

The Department of Planning and Zoning has received an applica�on for a Special Use Permit for a
Commercial Athle�c Field. This is a ba�ng cage/prac�ce facility for baseball/so�ball players,
located at 19897 178th Street, Tonganoxie, KS 66086.
 
The Planning Staff would appreciate your wri�en input in considera�on of the above request.
Please review the a�ached informa�on and forward any comments to us by Tuesday, March 9th.
 
If you have any ques�ons or need addi�onal informa�on, please contact me at (913) 684-0464 or
at Jgentzler@LeavenworthCounty.Gov.
 
Thank you,
 
Joshua Gentzler
Planner II
Planning & Zoning
Leavenworth County
913.684.0464
 
 

mailto:Janelle.phillips@ks.gov
mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:stfdchief1760@gmail.com
mailto:Amanda.holloway@freestate.coop
mailto:Jgentzler@LeavenworthCounty.Gov
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.leavenworthcounty.gov%2Fdepartments%2Fplanning___zoning%2Findex.php&data=04%7C01%7CJanelle.Phillips%40ks.gov%7C307d80caa0854c87536608d8f08c6735%7Cdcae8101c92d480cbc43c6761ccccc5a%7C0%7C0%7C637523833262763009%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=O%2B7HPyP1E1N%2Byg8IJRwl9Clc2X%2Fa3xV2m3LTzErjGfU%3D&reserved=0












June 9, 2021                                             Leavenworth County Planning Commission 1 

***Renewal with changes*** 
Case No. DEV-21-055 

Elevated Archery 
Special Use Permit – Archery Range & Pro Shop 

***Public Hearing Required*** 
 
Staff Report – Planning Commission  June 9, 2021 

GENERAL INFORMATION: 
 
Applicant/                   John and Nicole Silverstein 
Property Owner: 14702 Timber Lane 

Bonner Springs, KS 66012 
 

Legal Description:      Tracts of land in the Southwest Quarter of Section 24, Township 11 South, 
Range 22 East of the 6th P.M, in Leavenworth County, Kansas. 

 
Location: 14702 Timber Lane, Bonner Springs, KS 66012 
 
Parcel Size: ± 9 acres (3 parcels totaling) 
 
Zoning/Land Use: RR-2.5, Rural Residential 2.5-acre minimum size parcels 
 
Comprehensive Plan:  This parcel is within the Residential land use category.   
 
Parcel ID No.:   186-24-0-00-00-130.00, 186-24-0-00-00-114.00, & 186-24-0-00-00-114.00 

 
Planner:  Joshua Gentzler 
 

REPORT: 
 

Request   
The applicant is requesting a Special Use Permit for an Archery Range & Pro Shop. 
 
Adjacent Land Use 
The surrounding properties are residences and farms on varying sized parcels ranging from 0.9 acres to over 
3 acres in size. This property is located within the Northwoods at Timber Lakes subdivision, which is a fully 
developed subdivision. Properties across Metro Ave are located with Hickory Hill Timber Lakes and Fox Run 
Estates subdivisions.  
 
Flood Plain   
There are no Special Flood Hazard Areas on this parcel per FEMA Firm Map 20103C0333G July 16, 2015.  
 
Utilities/Services 
Sewer: Private septic system  
Fire: Fairmount 
Water: RWD #7 
Electric: Evergy 
 
Access/Streets  
The property is accessed by Timber Lane, a County local street with a paved surface ± 28’ wide, and Metro 
Avenue, a County Collector with a paved surface ± 30’ wide. 
 
Agency Comments 
See attached comments – Email – Kyle Anderson – Planning and Zoning, April 26, 2021 
See attached comments – Email – Lauren Anderson – Public Works, June 2, 2021 
See attached comments – Email – Mitch Pleak – Olsson, June 2, 2021 
See attached comments – Email – Chuck Magaha – Emergency Management, June 1, 2021 
See attached comments – Email – Mike Lingenfelser – Fairmount Township Fire Department, May 4, 2021 
See attached comments – Email – Jalayne Turner – Rural Water District 7, April 26, 2021 
See attached comments – Email – Brittney Reed – Evergy, April 26, 2021 



June 9, 2021                                             Leavenworth County Planning Commission 2 

 
Factors to be considered 
The following factors are to be considered by the Planning Commission and the Board of County 
Commission when approving or disapproving this Special Use Permit request: 

1. Character of the neighborhood:  The character of the neighborhood is a subdivision; primarily the 
Northwoods at Timber Lakes single-family neighborhoods. 

2. Zoning and uses of nearby property:  The surrounding properties are zoned RR-2.5, Rural Residential 
2.5-acre minimum size parcels. The majority of the land use surrounding the property are residences 
with some agricultural uses to the north of Metro Ave. The Northwoods at Timber Lakes subdivision is 
a subdivision with parcels ranging from 0.5 acres to over 2.0 acres.   

3. Suitability of the property for the uses to which it has been restricted:  The property is within an area 
suited for typical suburban neighborhood uses. Northwoods at Timber Lakes is a neighborhood built in 
three phases with over 50 lots. The plat has been almost fully developed, with the lone parcel that is 
undeveloped being a parcel that was platted with access off of Metro Ave. The use is allowed only with 
the approval of a Special Use Permit 

4. Extent to which removal of the restrictions will detrimentally affect nearby property: The increases in 
traffic to the house and to the unpermitted parking/entrances off of Metro Ave have had a detrimental 
affect on nearby property. The usage of the property has been significantly changed as the applicant 
has started using land which was not permitted with the original SUP and changed the focus of the 
business. The area will be detrimentally affected. 

5. Length of time the property has been vacant as zoned:  The property is not vacant. 
6. Relative gain to economic development, public health, safety and welfare:  The proposed use will add 

a small business to the neighborhood and County. 
7. Conformance to the Comprehensive Plan:  The Future Land Use Map indicates this area as 

Residential. 
8. Staff recommendation is for the denial of the Special Use Permit. 

 

LOCATION 
Adjacent Residences Adjacent residences are suburban single-family homes. Parcels within the 

Northwoods at Timber Lakes neighborhood are between half-acre and 3-acre 
parcels, in size. Properties to the north of the subject in the Fox Run Estates and 
Hickory Hills Timber Lakes subdivision range in size from 0.25 acres to 6.4 acres 
in size, with an average size of 1.8 acres. 

Adjacent Zoning/Uses Zoning in the area is RR-2.5 and are used primarily as rural-suburban residences 
with scattered agricultural uses to the northeast. 

Density This quarter section has 56 dwelling units (homes) located within it. 

Nearby City Limits The city of Bonner Spring is approximately 0.6 miles to the east of the property. 

Initial Growth 
Management Area 

The property is not located within an Urban Growth Management Area. 



June 9, 2021                                             Leavenworth County Planning Commission 3 

 

 
 

SITE COMPATABILITY 
Size of Parcels The combined size of the parcels is nine (9) acres in size. 

Zoning of Parcel The parcel is zoned Rural Residential-2.5. 

Buildings  
(Existing & Proposed) 

The applicant has a 10’x12’ shed on the property and an accessory building that is 
used as the pro shop. Equipment for the range is stored in the shed, while 
maintenance and sales of equipment occurs in the accessory building. 

Setbacks Existing building meet the required setbacks. 

Screening The property is screened via natural vegetation. 

  
History 
This is the second request (first renewal) for a Special Use Permit for Elevated Archery. The original SUP 
was granted in July 2016 with Resolution 2016-23. The initial SUP was granted for both archery lessons and 
bow maintenance and the applicant reported that the business has moved away from archery lesson model 
to an archery league model. Planning and Zoning has received a phone complaint since the applicant 
applied for a renewal. The complaints centered around the expansion of the operations and the addition of 
entrances to the property off of Metro Ave. 
 
Staff Comments   
Elevated Archery is asking for a renewal of its archery range and bow maintenance shop, while adding a pro 
shop and additional parcels of land to be included in the renewal. The applicant is a certified bow technician 
and instructor. The site plan provided by the applicant property shows seven (7) stands constructed and 17 
targets scattered throughout the three (3) parcels which make up the Silverstein’s property. The applicant 
has bought an additional two (2) parcels since the SUP was approved in 2016. According to the applicant, 
the targets are moved and interchanged on a regular/weekly basis during the fall and spring months when 
the business is most active. The arrangement of these stands on the property allows customers to fire down 
onto the targets which are set between 20 and 80 yards from the stands. All stands and targets are arranged 
in a way to direct projectiles away from the homes surrounding the properties.  
 
The applicant initially applied for a SUP in 2016 for an archery range and maintenance shop. The narrative 
provided in 2016 requested the SUP for an archery range and maintenance shop where the applicant would 
teach archery lessons from his home and complete repairs, upgrades, and maintenance of customer’s 
equipment. Since 2016, the applicant expanded both the scope and footprint of the business from the 
original narrative. The business now consists of a pro shop (see Figure 1), maintenance area, and an 

IMPACT 
Noise Pollution This use will not cause prolonged noise pollution.  

Traffic The use will create additional traffic when customers visit the site. The primary 
time that customers visit the site are on Tuesday, Wednesday, and Thursday 
evenings and Saturday mornings. Up to 12 customers visit the site via the parking 
on Metro Avenue on Tuesday through Thursday and six customers visit the site 
via Timber Lane each week. The access off of Metro Ave and parking lot were 
added without permitting the driveway with Public Works. The driveways do not 
meet the access management policy, are located within an area of limited access 
on Metro Ave, and Staff has safety concerns with these access points. The 
applicant will need to apply for an entrance permit to the parcel that fronts to 
Metro Avenue as it has not been permitted..  

Lighting The applicant does not have lighting other than security lighting and is not 
requesting lighting. 

Outdoor Storage The applicant equipment in an existing shed on the property. 

Parking The applicant utilizes his garage and driveway for employees/family members. 
The property has added an unpermitted parking lot and driveways with access to 
Metro Ave. The parking area has space for 15 vehicles, while the driveway has 
space for 4-6 vehicles. 

Visitors/Employees The employees live on-site. Customers visit the site on a regular basis. The 
majority of customers park off of Metro Avenue to the north of the house. The 
applicant estimates 30+ visitors per week during peak season (March-May and 
August-October. 

Waste The business generates no waste not typical with a suburban home.  



June 9, 2021                                             Leavenworth County Planning Commission 4 

expanded archery range (see Site plan and Narrative included in application). The applicant originally 
submitted a request for four platforms and targets maintained all on the parcel of land where the applicant’s 
home was built (See Figure 2).  
 

  
Figure 1 Pro shop 

 

 
Figure 2 DEV-16-039 Site Plan 

 
The footprint of the business was enlarged to include shooting platforms on parcels of land bought in 2016 
and 2018, targets located on the applicant’s two adjoining properties, and an unpermitted circle entrance and 
parking area located off of Metro Avenue (See Figures 3 and 4). The parcel of land labeled 14.06 in Figure 2 
above was intended to be utilized as a buffer between the business operations and parcels with a residence. 
That parcel is not utilized by the business as a target area. In addition, the SUP was granted for one (1) 
parcel in 2016 and the applicant currently uses three (3) total parcels for the operation. The expansion 
ignores the scope of the business set by the Narrative submitted by the applicant in 2016 and now utilizes 
property for which the SUP was not approved.  
 

 
Figure 3 East Entrance off of Metro Ave 

 
Figure 4 West Entrance off of Metro Ave 

 

Since 2016, the applicant has changed the focus of the business from the scope provided in the 2016 
narrative from providing lessons and bow maintenance. The business now focuses on a regular archery 
league during the spring and fall months with lessons provided during the summer months. During March 
through May and August through October, the business offers three nights of an archery league, where 10-
12 customers come to the site and compete on a weekly basis. The applicant added entrances and the 
parking area to accommodate the number of customers who participate in league nights (see submitted site 
plan) on the parcel which fronts on Metro Avenue, which the applicant gained ownership in 2018. These 
entrances and parking lot were not sanctioned by the County. The applicant continues to provide lessons on 



June 9, 2021                                             Leavenworth County Planning Commission 5 

a limited basis over the summer months, scheduling usually 3-5 lessons a week based on customer interest. 
In addition, the applicant hosts an additional 3-5 yearly events where the business partners with local non-
profit organizations to provide experience with archery in a controlled environment. The site is mainly used 
between 4-8PM, Monday through Friday, and 9AM to 12PM on Saturdays. 
 
Currently there are two buildings on the property that are used for commercial purposes, a 10’x12’ storage 
shed and an accessory building that is used as a pro shop. The applicant indicates that they will not add any 
buildings to the property. There is a severe weather plan in place where the applicant will shut down the 
range and provide shelter for customers, if necessary.  
 
Staff has the following concerns regarding the approval of this Special Use Permit:  

1. The applicant has expanded the business without regard to the Narrative provided in 2016.  
2. The applicant never contacted Planning and Zoning with regards to any expansion to the business. 
3. The applicant has added entrances to a County Collector roadway without a permit. 
4. Property which was bought to be used as a buffer zone is now being used for business operations. 
5. Property which was not permitted for operations are currently being used by the business. 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
The staff recommends denial of Case No. DEV-21-055, Special Use Permit for Elevated Archery. Should the 
Planning Commission wish to recommend approval to Case No DEV-21-055, staff recommends approval 
with the following conditions: 
 

1. The SUP shall be limited to a period of five (5) years. 
 
2. The business shall be limited to the hours of 4PM to 8PM, Monday through Friday, and 9AM to 12PM on 

Saturdays. 
 
3. The SUP shall be limited to no non-family employees. 
 
4. The applicant shall apply for permit(s) for the entrances on Metro Ave, abide by the Access 

Management Policy, and move or remove the parking area or entrance(s) as required by Public Works. 
 
5. The applicant shall adhere to the following memorandums:  

a. Lauren Anderson – Public Works, June 2, 2021  
b. Chuck Magaha – Emergency Management, June 2, 2021  

 
6. No signage is allowed in the right-of-way.  No signage is requested with the SUP.  All signage shall 

comply with Article 25, Sign Regulations of the Leavenworth County Zoning and Subdivision 
Regulations. 

 
7.  No on-street parking shall be allowed. 
 
8.  This SUP shall be limited to the Narrative, dated April 22, 2021, submitted with this application, and the 

Applicant’s response to Staff’s comments, submitted May 15, 2021. 
 
9. This SUP shall comply with all local, state, and federal rules and regulations that may be applicable. 

After approval of this SUP by the Board of County Commission all conditions listed shall be adhered to 
and copies shall be provided to the Planning and Zoning Department within 30 days. 
 

ACTION OPTIONS: 
 

1. Recommend approval of Case No. DEV-21-055, Special Use Permit for Elevated Archery, to the Board 
of County Commission, with Findings of Fact, and with or without conditions; or 
 

2. Recommend denial of Case No. DEV-21-055, Special Use Permit for Elevated Archery, to the Board of 
County Commission, with Findings of Fact; or  

 
3. Continue the Public hearing to another date, time, and place. 

 



June 9, 2021                                             Leavenworth County Planning Commission 6 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Narrative 
Location/Aerial Maps 
Memorandums  
Letters from the Public 

 



DEV-21-055 Elevated Archery

400.0

THIS MAP IS NOT TO BE USED FOR NAVIGATION

Feet400.00

Notes

Legend

200.00

1 in. = 200ft.

This Cadastral Map is for informational purposes only.  It does not purport to
represent a property boundary survey of the parcels shown and shall not be

used for conveyances or the establishment of property boundaries.

Address Point

Parcel Number

Parcel

City Limit Line

Major Road

<all other values>

70

Road

Railroad

Section

Section Boundaries

County Boundary













From:                                         Anderson, Lauren
Sent:                                           Wednesday, June 2, 2021 12:51 PM
To:                                               Gentzler, Joshua; 'Mitch Pleak'
Cc:                                               Voth, Krystal; Noll, Bill
Subject:                                     RE: DEV-21-055 Staff Review and Comments
 

Joshua,
 
Traffic counts support this being considered a minor collector with a required 200LF spacing
between driveways. The applicant must file an entrance permit, like all other entrance request, so
our staff can conduct the normal loca�on review. They do have the available acreage to permit a
second entrance but it must also meet the required spacing distances. If the applicant wishes to
con�nue with two entrances, a second permit must be filed and crews can approve a second
loca�on driveway. Currently, their access loca�ons are ~90� apart.
 
Mitch will provide any other comments on this applica�on later today/early tomorrow.
 
Lauren
 
 
 
From: Gentzler, Joshua <JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, May 27, 2021 1:44 PM
To: 'Mitch Pleak' <MPleak@olsson.com>; Anderson, Lauren
<LAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov>
Subject: RE: DEV-21-055 Staff Review and Comments
 
In addi�on,
 
The applicants cut a circle drive onto Metro Ave (a county collector) without a permit. Aerials
don’t support an exis�ng access point for that property. Which access (if any) would be allowed
for PID 186-24-0-00-00-114.00 (r24698)?
 
Joshua Gentzler
Planning & Zoning
 

From: Gentzler, Joshua 
Sent: Thursday, May 27, 2021 8:45 AM
To: Mitch Pleak <MPleak@olsson.com>; Anderson, Lauren <LAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov>
Subject: FW: DEV-21-055 Staff Review and Comments
 
Mitch and Lauren,
 
Here are the answers to our ques�ons about Elevated Archery.
 
Joshua Gentzler
Planning & Zoning
 
From: elevated archery <elevatedarchery@gmail.com> 
Sent: Monday, May 24, 2021 7:31 AM
To: Gentzler, Joshua <JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov>
Subject: Re: DEV-21-055 Staff Review and Comments

mailto:LAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:MPleak@olsson.com
mailto:KVoth@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:BNoll@leavenworthcounty.gov
https://www.leavenworthcounty.gov/departments/planning___zoning/index.php
mailto:MPleak@olsson.com
mailto:LAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov
https://www.leavenworthcounty.gov/departments/planning___zoning/index.php
mailto:elevatedarchery@gmail.com
mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov


 
No�ce: This email originated from outside this organiza�on. Do not click on links or open a�achments unless you trust
the sender and know the content is safe.
 
Sir,
 
Here are the answers to your ques�ons.
 
- yes, the trips are to the Metro Ave parking area.
- currently no plans to build more pla�orms
- no more leagues will be added
 
JP
 
On Wed, May 19, 2021 at 16:16 Gentzler, Joshua <JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov> wrote:

Good a�ernoon Nickie,
As a follow up to your responses:

Are the 80 and 20 trips you es�mate to the parking lot on Metro Ave a per week average
or a monthly average?

Are you planning to add more stands/targets to those already constructed?
You currently provide 3 nights of league play, will you add addi�onal �me for leagues in
the next 3-7 years?

Thanks,
Joshua Gentzler
Planning & Zoning
From: elevated archery <elevatedarchery@gmail.com> 

Sent: Sunday, May 16, 2021 10:46 AM

To: Gentzler, Joshua <JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov>

Subject: Re: DEV-21-055 Staff Review and Comments
 

 

 

 

 

No�ce: This email originated from outside this organiza�on. Do not click on links or open a�achments unless you
trust the

sender and know the content is safe.
 

 

 

 

mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov
https://www.leavenworthcounty.gov/departments/planning___zoning/index.php
mailto:elevatedarchery@gmail.com
mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov


 

 

Joshua,

 

 

 

 

 

 

Here are the answers to your ques�ons. Please let me know that you received them.
 

 

 

 

 

 

Thank you,
 

 

 

Nickie Silverstein
 

 

 

 

 

 

On Tue, May 11, 2021 at 3:29 PM Gentzler, Joshua <JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov> wrote:
 

 

 

mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov


 
 

County of Leavenworth  
Planning & Zoning Department 

300 Walnut, Suite 212 

Leavenworth, Kansas 66048 

Phone: 913-684-0465 
 

Leavenworth County Planning and Zoning Department 
Leavenworth County Courthouse 

300 Walnut Suite 212 Leavenworth, Kansas 66048 

May 11, 2021 
 
To: John and Nicole Silverstein 
 Elevated Archery 
 14702 Timber Lane 
 Bonner Springs, KS 66012 
 
Re: Special Use Permit Renewal – Elevated Archery 
 DEV-21-055 
   

   
 

 
 

  
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  
    
  
  

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Mr. & Mrs. Silverstein,

Staff has reviewed the application and narrative for Elevated Archery, which was submitted on April 
22nd, 2021.

Upon review of your application, staff has the following comments or questions:

1. How many customers come to your house for bow maintenance, on average, each week 
during peak season?

2. How many customers come to your house for bow maintenance, on average, each week 
during non-peak season?

3. How many customers come to the business for lessons or to use the range, on average, each 
week during peak season?

4.  How many group lessons do you lead each week, on average?

5. How many lessons do you lead on an average week, during peak season?
6. How many parking spaces have you created off of Metro Avenue?
7. Do you have plans to add any employees to the business?

In addition, the Public Works department has the following comments on your application:

• Provide generated vehicle trips to the parking lot off of Metro. A trip is defined as a
  single– or one-directional vehicle movement with either to or from the SUP’s site. A
  vehicle coming to the site is one trip and the same vehicle leaving the site is a second trip.

• Trips shall include anticipated vehicles per day for each type of vehicle (passenger, trucks,
  types of trucks, large equipment, trailers, and loads). Trips shall include customers, staff,
  deliveries, or other vehicles needed for the special uses permit. In general, provide time
  frames per day when the detailed vehicle trips will occur.



Please provide the revisions and information indicated above by May 18th, 2021. If the revision 
and information is not received by then, the case will be continued and rescheduled. 
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please contact me at (913) 684-0465 or 

at JGentzler@LeavenworthCounty.Gov 

Respectfully, 

 

Joshua Gentzler  

Planner II 

Planning and Zoning  

Leavenworth County 



From:                                         Mitch Pleak
Sent:                                           Monday, May 3, 2021 11:31 AM
To:                                               Gentzler, Joshua
Cc:                                               Anderson, Lauren; Voth, Krystal; 019-2831; Noll, Bill
Subject:                                     RE: DEV-21-055 Special Use Permit - Elevated Archery
 

No�ce: This email originated from outside this organiza�on. Do not click on links or open a�achments unless you trust
the sender and know the content is safe.
 
Joshua,
Lauren and I have reviewed the applica�on. The applica�on states a parking area off of Metro Ave
will be added. Please request the following below regarding the parking lot off of Metro so Staff
can further review the applica�on.
 
•Provide generated vehicle trips to the parking lot off of Metro. A trip is defined as a single– or
one-direc�onal vehicle movement with either to or from the SUP’s site. A vehicle coming to the
site is one trip and the same vehicle leaving the site is a second trip.
•Trips shall include an�cipated vehicles per day for each type of vehicle (passenger, trucks, types
of trucks, large equipment, trailers, and loads). Trips shall include customers, staff, deliveries, or
other vehicles needed for the special uses permit. In general, provide �me frames per day when
the detailed vehicle trips will occur.
 
Thanks,
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Mitch Pleak, PE
Project Engineer / Civil

D 913.748.2503

7301 W. 133rd Street, Suite 200
Overland Park, KS 66213
O 913.381.1170

Follow Us: Facebook / Twitter / Instagram / LinkedIn / YouTube

View Legal Disclaimer

From: Gentzler, Joshua <JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov> 
Sent: Monday, April 26, 2021 10:11 AM
To: 'lingenfelserm@fairmoun�d.org' <lingenfelserm@fairmoun�d.org>;
'jalayne@leavenworthrwd7.com' <jalayne@leavenworthrwd7.com>; 'Tyler.rebel@evergy.com'
<Tyler.rebel@evergy.com>; Anderson, Kyle <KAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Anderson,
Lauren <LAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Magaha, Chuck
<CMagaha@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Miller, Jamie <JMiller@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Mitch
Pleak <mpleak@olsson.com>; Thorne, Eric <ethorne@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Van Parys, David

mailto:mpleak@olsson.com
mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:LAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:KVoth@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:019-2831@olsson.com
mailto:BNoll@leavenworthcounty.gov
https://www.olsson.com/
https://www.facebook.com/WeAreOlsson/
https://twitter.com/olsson_tweets
https://www.instagram.com/weareolsson/
https://www.linkedin.com/company/weareolsson/
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCfCGdcQ8yP3YoP2CgSSw2uw
https://www.olsson.com/disclaimer


<DVanParys@leavenworthcounty.gov>
Subject: DEV-21-055 Special Use Permit - Elevated Archery
 
The Department of Planning and Zoning has received an applica�on for the renewal of a Special
Use Permit for a Gun Clubs, Skeet Shoot, Target Range, Private Club.
 
The Planning Staff would appreciate your wri�en input in considera�on of the above request.
Please review the a�ached informa�on and forward any comments to us by Tuesday, May 4th.
 
If you have any ques�ons or need addi�onal informa�on, please contact me at (913) 684-0464 or
at Jgentzler@LeavenworthCounty.Gov.
 
Thank you,
 
Joshua Gentzler
Planner II
Planning & Zoning
Leavenworth County
913.684.0464
 

mailto:Jgentzler@LeavenworthCounty.Gov
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.leavenworthcounty.gov/departments/planning___zoning/index.php__;!!OlGkjAV-rZfRNzw!ead1ZtiQDPNBKUZqmqigBodIlUqt4aBMl0JV2NqE7iziSSGlcJ9CiRVKk64pOA$


 
 

Leavenworth County 
Planning & Zoning Department 

300 Walnut, Suite 212 
Leavenworth, Kansas 66048 

 
 
To:  Krystal Voth 

Director 
 
From:  Kyle Anderson 
  Environmental Tech/Code Enforcement  
 
Date: April 26, 2021 
 
RE: John & Nicole Silverstein 
 Case DEV-21-055, Special Use Permit Renewal 

147020 Timber Ln 
Bonner Springs, KS 66012 
PID# 186-24-0-00-00-130.00 

 

Our department received a Special Use Permit renewal application for the archery 

range located at the above listed location. We have not received any complaints on this 

property. 

Thank you, 

 

Kyle Anderson 
kanderson@leavenworthcounty.gov 

mailto:kanderson@leavenworthcounty.gov


From:                                         jalayne leavenworthrwd7.com
Sent:                                           Monday, April 26, 2021 10:51 AM
To:                                               Gentzler, Joshua
Subject:                                     RE: DEV-21-055 Special Use Permit - Elevated Archery
 

No�ce: This email originated from outside this organiza�on. Do not click on links or open a�achments unless you trust
the sender and know the content is safe.
 
LVRWD#7 has no issues with the renewal of the permit.
 
 
David Rinaldi – General manager

Jalayne Turner
Office Manager
LVRWD#7
2451 S. 142nd St.
P O Box 257
Bonner Springs, KS 66012
913-441-1205 Office
jalayne@leavenworthrwd7.com email
www.lvrwd7.com website
 
From: Gentzler, Joshua <JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov> 
Sent: Monday, April 26, 2021 10:11 AM
To: 'lingenfelserm@fairmoun�d.org' <lingenfelserm@fairmoun�d.org>; jalayne
leavenworthrwd7.com <jalayne@leavenworthrwd7.com>; 'Tyler.rebel@evergy.com'
<Tyler.rebel@evergy.com>; Anderson, Kyle <KAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Anderson,
Lauren <LAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Magaha, Chuck
<CMagaha@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Miller, Jamie <JMiller@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Mitch
Pleak <MPleak@olsson.com>; Thorne, Eric <ethorne@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Van Parys, David
<DVanParys@leavenworthcounty.gov>
Subject: DEV-21-055 Special Use Permit - Elevated Archery
 
The Department of Planning and Zoning has received an applica�on for the renewal of a Special
Use Permit for a Gun Clubs, Skeet Shoot, Target Range, Private Club.
 
The Planning Staff would appreciate your wri�en input in considera�on of the above request.
Please review the a�ached informa�on and forward any comments to us by Tuesday, May 4th.
 
If you have any ques�ons or need addi�onal informa�on, please contact me at (913) 684-0464 or
at Jgentzler@LeavenworthCounty.Gov.
 
Thank you,
 
Joshua Gentzler
Planner II
Planning & Zoning
Leavenworth County
913.684.0464
 

mailto:jalayne@leavenworthrwd7.com
mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:jalayne@leavenworthrwd7.com
http://www.lvrwd7.com/
mailto:Jgentzler@LeavenworthCounty.Gov
https://www.leavenworthcounty.gov/departments/planning___zoning/index.php


1

Gentzler, Joshua

From: Mike Lingenfelser <lingenfelserm@fairmountfd.org>

Sent: Tuesday, May 4, 2021 9:30 AM

To: Gentzler, Joshua

Subject: Re: DEV-21-055 Special Use Permit - Elevated Archery

Notice: This email originated from outside this organization. Do not click on links or open attachments unless you trust the sender and know the 
content is safe. 

 
Joshua 
Fairmount Township Fire Department is satisfied with the special use permit. 
Mike Lingenfelser, Fire Chief 
Fairmount Township Fire Department 
2624 N 155th St 
Basehor, Kansas 66007 
Work-913-724-4911  
Cell 913-306-0258 

 
 
On Mon, Apr 26, 2021 at 3:32 PM Gentzler, Joshua <JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov> wrote: 

All,  

Please review this updated application with a complete narrative and deed paperwork.  

Thank you, 

Joshua Gentzler 

Planning & Zoning 

From: Gentzler, Joshua  
Sent: Monday, April 26, 2021 10:11 AM 
To: 'lingenfelserm@fairmountfd.org' <lingenfelserm@fairmountfd.org>; 'jalayne@leavenworthrwd7.com' 
<jalayne@leavenworthrwd7.com>; 'Tyler.rebel@evergy.com' <Tyler.rebel@evergy.com>; Anderson, Kyle 
<KAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Anderson, Lauren <LAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Magaha, Chuck 
<CMagaha@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Miller, Jamie <JMiller@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Mitch Pleak 
<MPleak@olsson.com>; Thorne, Eric <ethorne@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Van Parys, David 
<DVanParys@leavenworthcounty.gov> 
Subject: DEV-21-055 Special Use Permit - Elevated Archery 

The Department of Planning and Zoning has received an application for the renewal of a Special Use Permit for a Gun 
Clubs, Skeet Shoot, Target Range, Private Club. 

The Planning Staff would appreciate your written input in consideration of the above request. Please review the 
attached information and forward any comments to us by Tuesday, May 4th.  

If you have any questions or need additional information, please contact me at (913) 684-0464 or at 
Jgentzler@LeavenworthCounty.Gov.  



2

Thank you, 

Joshua Gentzler 

Planner II 

Planning & Zoning 

Leavenworth County 

913.684.0464 







June 9, 2021                                             Leavenworth County Planning Commission 1 

Case No. DEV-21-019 
Rezoning from RR-5 to RR-2.5 
***Public Hearing Required*** 

 
Staff Report – Planning Commission  June 9, 2021 

GENERAL INFORMATION: 
 
Applicant/                   Joe Herring on behalf of David & Shannon Lutgen 
Property Owner: 315 N. 5th Street 

Leavenworth, KS 66048 
 

Legal Description:      A tract of land in the southeast ¼ of Section 15, Township 11 South, Range 
20 East of the 6th P.M, in Leavenworth County, Kansas. 

 
Location: 00000 254th Street, located at the intersection of 254th & Conley Road 

 
Parcel Size: ± 12 acres 
 
Zoning/Land Use: RR-5, Rural Residential 5-acre minimum size parcels 
 
Comprehensive Plan:  This parcel is within the Rural Residential 2.5 land use category.   
 
Parcel ID No.:   205-15-0-00-00-014.00 

 
Planner:  Krystal A. Voth 
 

REPORT: 
 

Request   
The applicant is requesting to rezone a parcel of land from Rural Residential-5 to Rural Residential -2.5. 
 
Adjacent Land Use 
Rockin “C” Estates is located directly to the east of the parcel. The properties located within Rockin “C” are 
used as rural subdivision lots and the majority of the lots have homes built. The rest of the area is mainly 
rural-residential with farms and homes on large lots. The property is located less than two miles from the 
Jefferson County line.   
 
Flood Plain   
There are no Special Flood Hazard Area X on this parcel per FEMA Firm Map 20103C0300G July 16, 2015.  
 
Utilities/Services 
Sewer: Private septic system  
Fire: Tonganoxie   
Water:  RWD 13  
Electric:   FreeState 
 
Access/Streets  
The property is accessed by 254th Street. This road is a County local road with a paved surface ± 24’ wide. 
 
Agency Comments 
No Comments Received 
 
Factors to be considered 
The following factors are to be considered by the Planning Commission and the Board of County 
Commission when approving or disapproving this Rezoning request: 

1. Character of the neighborhood:  The character of the neighborhood is rural; agricultural uses and rural 
residences. 

2. Zoning and uses of nearby property:  Rockin’ “C” Estates is zoned as a Planned Unit Development and 
is used for rural residences. The remaining surrounding area is zoned as Rural Residential – 5.   

3. Suitability of the property for the uses to which it has been restricted:  The property is within an area  



June 9, 2021                                             Leavenworth County Planning Commission 2 

4. Extent to which removal of the restrictions will detrimentally affect nearby property:  The area will not 
likely be detrimentally affected. The proposed rezoning is in conformance with the Comprehensive 
Plan and is a rural residential zoning district.  

5. Length of time the property has been vacant as zoned:  The property has not been development and is 
currently used as agricultural land.  

6. Relative gain to economic development, public health, safety and welfare:  Rezoning the property will 
allow up to four rural residential lots. 

7. Conformance to the Comprehensive Plan:  The Future Land Use Map indicates this area as Rural 
Residential -2.5.   

8. Staff recommendation is for the approval of the rezoning request. 
 
  

Staff Comments   
The property is located on the west side of 254th Street, directly west of Rockin’ “C” Estates. The property is 
currently zoned as Rural Residential-5. The applicants are requesting the zoning be changed to RR-2.5, 
which would allow up to four lots to be established as opposed to two. The Future Land Use Map identifies 
this area as RR-2.5 and therefore the request is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan.  
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
The staff recommends approval of Case No.DEV-21-019, Rezoning from Rural Residential-5 (RR-5) to Rural 
Residential -2.5 (RR-2.5). 

 

ACTION OPTIONS: 
 

1. Recommend approval of Case No. DEV-21-019, Rezoning from Rural Residential-5 (RR-5) to Rural 
Residential -2.5 (RR-2.5, to the Board of County Commission, with Findings of Fact, or 
 

2.   Recommend denial of Case No. DEV-21-019, Rezoning from Rural Residential-5 (RR-5) to Rural 
Residential -2.5 (RR-2.5to the Board of County Commission, with Findings of Fact; or  

 
3. Continue the Public hearing to another date, time, and place. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Narrative 
Location/Aerial Maps 
 
 

 



DEV-21-019 Rezoning Lutgen

400.0

THIS MAP IS NOT TO BE USED FOR NAVIGATION

Feet400.00

Notes

Legend

200.00

1 in. = 200ft.

This Cadastral Map is for informational purposes only.  It does not purport to
represent a property boundary survey of the parcels shown and shall not be

used for conveyances or the establishment of property boundaries.

Address Point

Parcel Number

Lot Line

Parcel

City Limit Line

Major Road

<all other values>

70

Road

Railroad

Section

Section Boundaries

County Boundary













From:                                         Amanda Tarwater
Sent:                                           Friday, March 5, 2021 9:52 AM
To:                                               Gentzler, Joshua
Subject:                                     Re: DEV-21-019 Rezoning Lutgen
 

No�ce: This email originated from outside this organiza�on. Do not click on links or open a�achments unless you trust
the sender and know the content is safe.
 
FreeState Electric has no objec�on to this request.
 
 
 
Thank you,
 

Amanda Tarwater
Member Account Coordinator

1-800-794-1989 | www.freestate.coop

From: "Gentzler, Joshua" 
Date: Friday, March 5, 2021 at 9:24 AM
To: Amanda Tarwater , "RWD 13 (linda@jfrwd13.com)" , "'chief1860@�rfd.com'" , "Voth,
Krystal" , "Anderson, Kyle" , "Anderson, Lauren" , "Magaha, Chuck" , "Miller, Jamie" ,
Mitch Pleak , "Thorne, Eric" , "Van Parys, David" 
Subject: DEV-21-019 Rezoning Lutgen
 
 

Warning: This message originated outside of the FEC organiza�on. Do not click links or open
a�achments unless you have validated the sender and know the content is safe. <=""
span="">

Good morning,
 
I am sending this out on behalf of Krystal Voth, who will be reviewing the case. The Department of
Planning and Zoning has received an applica�on for a Rezoning regarding a property at
immediately south of 17305 254th Street, Tonganoxie, KS 66086.
 
The Planning Staff would appreciate your wri�en input in considera�on of the above request.
Please review the a�ached informa�on and forward any comments to us by Friday, March 12th.
 
If you have any ques�ons or need addi�onal informa�on, please contact Krystal at (913) 684-0461
or at KVoth@LeavenworthCounty.Gov.
 
Thank you,
 
Joshua Gentzler
Planner II

mailto:amanda.holloway@freestate.coop
mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov


Planning & Zoning
Leavenworth County
913.684.0464
 
 

https://www.leavenworthcounty.gov/departments/planning___zoning/index.php


June 9, 2021                                             Leavenworth County Planning Commission 1 

Case No. DEV-21-051 
Rezoning 

***Public Hearing Required*** 
 

Staff Report – Planning Commission  June 9, 2021 

GENERAL INFORMATION: 
 
Applicant/                   Matt Kessler/Red Fuel Repair 
Property Owner: 18658 207th Street 

Tonganoxie, KS 66086 
 

Legal Description:      A tract of land in the Northeast of Section 12, Township 11 South, Range 
21 East of the 6th P.M, in Leavenworth County, Kansas. 

 
Location: 19393 State Avenue, Tonganoxie, KS 66086 

 
Parcel Size: ± 9.7 acres 
 
Zoning/Land Use: RR-2.5, Rural Residential 2.5-acre minimum size parcels 
 
Comprehensive Plan:  This parcel is within the Mixed-Use land use category.   
 
Parcel ID No.:   191-12-0-00-00-005.00 

 
Planner:  Joshua Gentzler 
 

REPORT: 
 

Request   
The applicant is requesting to rezone a parcel of land from RR-2.5 to B-3. 
 
Adjacent Land Use 
The surrounding properties to the North, East, and South are residences and farms on varying sized parcels 
ranging from 5 acre to over 28 acres in size. Land use adjacent to the west is commercial and zoned B-3 and 
is 17 acres in size.  
 
Flood Plain   
There are is Special Flood Hazard Areas, Zones AE, on this parcel per FEMA Firm Map 20103C0325G July 
16, 2015.  
 
Utilities/Services 
Sewer: Private septic system  
Fire: Stranger 
Water: Suburban 
Electric:  Freestate  
 
Access/Streets  
The property is accessed by State Avenue/Highway 24-40. This road is a State Highway with a paved 
surface ± 100’ wide. 
 
Agency Comments 
See attached comments – Memo – Kyle Anderson – Planning and Zoning, May 3, 2021 
See attached comments – Memo – Lauren Anderson – Public Works, May 5, 2021 
See attached comments – Memo – Mark Billquist – Stranger Township Fire Department, May 13, 2021 
See attached comments – Email – Amanda Tarwater – FreeState, April 30, 2021 



June 9, 2021                                             Leavenworth County Planning Commission 2 

 
 
 
Factors to be considered 
The following factors are to be considered by the Planning Commission and the Board of County 
Commission when approving or disapproving this Rezoning request: 

1. Character of the neighborhood:  The character of the neighborhood is transitional with a mixture of 
agricultural, residential, and commercial uses along a state highway. 

2. Zoning and uses of nearby property:  The surrounding properties to the North (across State Avenue), 
East, and South are zoned RR-2.5, Rural Residential 2.5-acre minimum size parcels. The uses on 
these properties are rural residences and agricultural use. The property to the West is zoned B-3 and 
is used as a contractor’s yard. 

3. Suitability of the property for the uses to which it has been restricted:  The property is within an area 
that would support heavy commercial activity due to the property’s location on a state highway. 

4. Extent to which removal of the restrictions will detrimentally affect nearby property:  The area will not 
likely be detrimentally affected as the usage will not be changed from its current use. 

5. Length of time the property has been vacant as zoned:  The property is not vacant. 
6. Relative gain to economic development, public health, safety and welfare:  The proposed use will add 

longevity to a parcel that is already being used as a commercial usage. The current/proposed use will 
continue to allow a business to add to the economic development of the County. The public health and 
safety and welfare of the neighborhood is not likely to be negatively affected. 

7. Conformance to the Comprehensive Plan:  The Future Land Use Map indicates this area as Mixed-
Use.  

8. Staff recommendation is for the approval of the rezoning request. 
 

History 
 

This property has been used as a heavy vehicle repair facility since 2016, when the applicant applied for and 
received a Special Use Permit for their business, Red Fuel Repair.  

  
Staff Comments   
 
The proposed rezoning is located on State Avenue, approximately 1.1 miles east of the Tonganoxie city 
limits. The property is located at 19393 State Avenue and is currently zoned RR-2.5. The applicant is 
requesting approval of a rezoning from RR-2.5 to B-3. The property is categorized as Mixed Use by the 
Comprehensive Plan, which would allow for this type of usage. The property is categorized as T-3- Suburban 
Zone in the US 24-40 Corridor Plan, which allows for “Low density residential, civic and institutional uses, 
and limited neighborhood serving office and retail uses.” The Staff is supportive of the request as the 
property is located immediately adjacent to Highway 24-40/State Avenue and is aligned with the 
Comprehensive Plan growth strategy. 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
The staff recommends approval of Case No. DEV-21-051, Rezoning from RR-2.5 to B-3. 

 

ACTION OPTIONS: 
 

1. Recommend approval of Case No. DEV-21-051, Rezoning from RR-2.5 to B-3, to the Board of County 
Commission, with Findings of Fact, or 
 

2.   Recommend denial of Case No. DEV-21-051, Rezoning from RR-2.5 to B-3, to the Board of County 
Commission, with Findings of Fact; or  

 
3. Continue the Public hearing to another date, time, and place. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Narrative 
Location/Aerial Maps 
Memorandums  

 



DEV-21-051 Rezone Red Fuel Repair

600.0

THIS MAP IS NOT TO BE USED FOR NAVIGATION

Feet600.00

Notes

Legend

300.00

1 in. = 300ft.

This Cadastral Map is for informational purposes only.  It does not purport to
represent a property boundary survey of the parcels shown and shall not be

used for conveyances or the establishment of property boundaries.

Address Point

Parcel Number

Parcel

City Limit Line

Major Road

<all other values>

70

Road

Railroad











 
 

Leavenworth County 
Planning & Zoning Department 

300 Walnut, Suite 212 
Leavenworth, Kansas 66048 

 
 
To:  Krystal Voth 

Director 
 
From:  Kyle Anderson 
  Environmental Tech/Code Enforcement  
 
Date: May 3, 2021 
 
RE: Matt Kessler 

Red Fuel Repair, LLC 
 Case DEV-21-051, Rezoning 

19393 State Ave  
Tonganoxie, KS 66086 
PID# 191-12-0-00-00-005.00 

 

Our department received a Rezone application for the property at 19393 State Ave 

Tonganoxie, KS 66048. We have not received any complaints on this property and all 

conditions of the previous Special Use Permit were met.  

Thank you, 

 

Kyle Anderson 
kanderson@leavenworthcounty.gov 

mailto:kanderson@leavenworthcounty.gov


From:                                         Anderson, Lauren
Sent:                                           Wednesday, May 5, 2021 10:17 AM
To:                                               Gentzler, Joshua
Cc:                                               Noll, Bill
Subject:                                     RE: DEV-21-051 Rezoning request for 18648 207th Street, Tonganoxie
 

Joshua,
 
Public Works does not have any statement on this rezoning request. This property is located on a
state maintained roadway, not a county road so we will leave that to the state dot to weigh in, if
you’ve requested that.
 
Lauren
 
From: Gentzler, Joshua 
Sent: Friday, April 30, 2021 4:06 PM
To: 'Timothy Smith' <chief1860@�rfd.com>; 'Travis@SuburbanWaterInc.com'
<Travis@SuburbanWaterInc.com>; 'Amanda Holloway (Amanda.holloway@freestate.coop)'
<Amanda.holloway@freestate.coop>; Anderson, Kyle <KAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov>;
Anderson, Lauren <LAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Magaha, Chuck
<CMagaha@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Miller, Jamie <JMiller@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Mitch
Pleak <MPleak@olsson.com>; Thorne, Eric <ethorne@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Van Parys, David
<DVanParys@leavenworthcounty.gov>
Subject: RE: DEV-21-051 Rezoning request for 18648 207th Street, Tonganoxie
 
All,
 
The proposed rezoning is for the Red Fuel Repair business loca�on located on 19393 State Avenue,
not 207th Street. I apologize for the error.
 
Joshua Gentzler
Planning & Zoning
 

From: Gentzler, Joshua 
Sent: Thursday, April 29, 2021 4:40 PM
To: 'Timothy Smith' <chief1860@�rfd.com>; 'Travis@SuburbanWaterInc.com'
<Travis@SuburbanWaterInc.com>; Amanda Holloway (Amanda.holloway@freestate.coop)
<Amanda.holloway@freestate.coop>; Anderson, Kyle <KAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov>;
Anderson, Lauren <LAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Magaha, Chuck
<CMagaha@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Miller, Jamie <JMiller@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Mitch
Pleak <MPleak@olsson.com>; Thorne, Eric <ethorne@leavenworthcounty.gov>; Van Parys, David
<DVanParys@leavenworthcounty.gov>
Subject: DEV-21-051 Rezoning request for 18648 207th Street, Tonganoxie
 
Good a�ernoon,
 
The Department of Planning and Zoning has received an applica�on for a Rezoning regarding a
property at 18648 207th Street, Tonganoxie, KS 66086.
 
The Planning Staff would appreciate your wri�en input in considera�on of the above request.
Please review the a�ached informa�on and forward any comments to us by Thursday, May 6th.

mailto:LAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:BNoll@leavenworthcounty.gov
https://www.leavenworthcounty.gov/departments/planning___zoning/index.php
mailto:chief1860@ttrfd.com
mailto:Travis@SuburbanWaterInc.com
mailto:Amanda.holloway@freestate.coop
mailto:Amanda.holloway@freestate.coop
mailto:KAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:LAnderson@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:CMagaha@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:JMiller@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:MPleak@olsson.com
mailto:ethorne@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:DVanParys@leavenworthcounty.gov


From:                                         Mark Billquist

Sent:                                           Thursday, May 13, 2021 6:30 PM

To:                                               Gentzler, Joshua

Subject:                                     Re: DEV-21-051 Rezoning request for 19393 State Avenue,
Tonganoxie

 

No�ce: This email originated from outside this organiza�on. Do not click on links or open a�achments unless you trust
the sender and know the content is safe.

 

Mr. Gentzler,

 

Stranger Township has no issues with the renewal of the Special Use Permit for Red Fuel Repair.
Ma� has been very upfront and recep�ve to any safety needs at his work site.

 

Mark Billquist

Stranger Township Fire Chief

 

 

On Wed, May 12, 2021 at 4:57 PM Gentzler, Joshua <JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov> wrote:

Good a�ernoon,

The Department of Planning and Zoning has received an applica�on for a Rezoning regarding a
property at 19393 State Avenue, Tonganoxie, KS 66086.

The Planning Staff would appreciate your wri�en input in considera�on of the above request.
Please review the a�ached informa�on and forward any comments to us by Monday, May 17th.

If you have any ques�ons or need addi�onal informa�on, please contact me at (913) 684-0464
or at JGentzler@LeavenworthCounty.Gov.

Thank you,

Joshua Gentzler

Planner II

Planning & Zoning

Leavenworth County

913.684.0464

mailto:stfdchief1760@gmail.com
mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:JGentzler@leavenworthcounty.gov
mailto:JGentzler@LeavenworthCounty.Gov
https://www.leavenworthcounty.gov/departments/planning___zoning/index.php


 

--

Mark Billquist
Stranger Township Fire Chief

Midwest Regional Treasurer 10-33 Founda�on 
913-369-0510 mobile
s�dchief1760@gmail.com

 

"Sometimes your joy is the source of your smile, but sometimes your smile can
be the source of your joy.” – Thich Nhat Hanh

tel:913-369-0510
mailto:stfdchief1760@gmail.com

	LEAVENWORTH COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION
	Agenda for the Regular Meeting of 6:00 P.M., Wednesday, June 9, 2021
	County Courthouse - 300 Walnut Street - Leavenworth, Kansas 66048
	www.leavenworthcounty.gov
	1. Call to Order
	2. Pledge of Allegiance
	4. Approval of Minutes
	5. Secretary’s Report
	6. Approval of Agenda
	7. Declarations: (if necessary)
	A. Declarations of receipt of communications by Planning Commissioners
	B. Disclosure of ex-parte communications for each hearing item
	C. Declarations of abstention from specific agenda items by a Commissioner
	12021.05.12 Minutes.docx.pdf
	May 12, 2021

	12021.06.03 PC BZA Agenda jg.docx.pdf
	LEAVENWORTH COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION
	Agenda for the Regular Meeting of 6:00 P.M., Wednesday, June 9, 2021
	County Courthouse - 300 Walnut Street - Leavenworth, Kansas 66048
	www.leavenworthcounty.gov
	1. Call to Order
	2. Pledge of Allegiance
	4. Approval of Minutes
	5. Secretary’s Report
	6. Approval of Agenda
	7. Declarations: (if necessary)
	A. Declarations of receipt of communications by Planning Commissioners
	B. Disclosure of ex-parte communications for each hearing item
	C. Declarations of abstention from specific agenda items by a Commissioner

	2021.05.21 DEV-21-059 & 060 PC Packet.pdf
	Comprehensive Plan:  This parcel is within the Residential land use category.
	REPORT:
	Request
	Adjacent Land Use
	Flood Plain
	Utilities/Services
	Access/Streets
	Staff Comments

	2021.04.14 DEV-21-022 PC Packet.pdf
	Comprehensive Plan:  This parcel is within the Residential (3 Units / Acre) land use category.
	REPORT:
	Request
	Adjacent Land Use
	Flood Plain
	There are is a Special Flood Hazard Areas on this parcel per FEMA Firm Map 20103C0238G July 16, 2015.
	Utilities/Services
	Access/Streets
	Factors to be considered
	This is the applicant’s first request for a Special Use Permit.
	Staff Comments
	12021.06.09 DEV-21-022 PC Report.doc.pdf
	Comprehensive Plan:  This parcel is within the Residential (3 Units / Acre) land use category.
	REPORT:
	Request
	Adjacent Land Use
	Flood Plain
	There are is a Special Flood Hazard Areas on this parcel per FEMA Firm Map 20103C0238G July 16, 2015.
	Utilities/Services
	Access/Streets
	Factors to be considered
	Staff Comments

	22021.06.09 DEV-21-022 PC Report.doc.pdf
	Comprehensive Plan:  This parcel is within the Residential (3 Units / Acre) land use category.
	REPORT:
	Request
	Adjacent Land Use
	Flood Plain
	There are is a Special Flood Hazard Areas on this parcel per FEMA Firm Map 20103C0238G July 16, 2015.
	Utilities/Services
	Access/Streets
	Factors to be considered
	Staff Comments

	32021.06.09 DEV-21-022 PC Report.doc.pdf
	Comprehensive Plan:  This parcel is within the Residential (3 Units / Acre) land use category.
	REPORT:
	Request
	Adjacent Land Use
	Flood Plain
	There are is a Special Flood Hazard Areas on this parcel per FEMA Firm Map 20103C0238G July 16, 2015.
	Utilities/Services
	Access/Streets
	Factors to be considered
	History
	Staff Comments


	2021.06.09 DEV-21-055 PC Packet.pdf
	Comprehensive Plan:  This parcel is within the Residential land use category.
	REPORT:
	Request
	Adjacent Land Use
	Flood Plain
	There are no Special Flood Hazard Areas on this parcel per FEMA Firm Map 20103C0333G July 16, 2015.
	Utilities/Services
	Access/Streets
	Factors to be considered
	Staff Comments
	12021.06.09 DEV-21-055 PC Report.doc.pdf
	Comprehensive Plan:  This parcel is within the Residential land use category.
	REPORT:
	Request
	Adjacent Land Use
	Flood Plain
	There are no Special Flood Hazard Areas on this parcel per FEMA Firm Map 20103C0333G July 16, 2015.
	Utilities/Services
	Access/Streets
	Factors to be considered
	Staff Comments

	22021.06.09 DEV-21-055 PC Report.doc.pdf
	Comprehensive Plan:  This parcel is within the Residential land use category.
	REPORT:
	Request
	Adjacent Land Use
	Flood Plain
	There are no Special Flood Hazard Areas on this parcel per FEMA Firm Map 20103C0333G July 16, 2015.
	Utilities/Services
	Access/Streets
	Factors to be considered
	Staff Comments

	32021.06.09 DEV-21-055 PC Report.doc.pdf
	Comprehensive Plan:  This parcel is within the Residential land use category.
	REPORT:
	Request
	Adjacent Land Use
	Flood Plain
	There are no Special Flood Hazard Areas on this parcel per FEMA Firm Map 20103C0333G July 16, 2015.
	Utilities/Services
	Access/Streets
	Factors to be considered
	Staff Comments


	2021.06.09 DEV-21-051 PC Packet.pdf
	1DRAFT 2021.06.09 DEV-21-051 RZ -  pc report.doc.pdf
	Comprehensive Plan:  This parcel is within the Mixed-Use land use category.
	REPORT:
	Request
	Adjacent Land Use
	Flood Plain
	There are is Special Flood Hazard Areas, Zones AE, on this parcel per FEMA Firm Map 20103C0325G July 16, 2015.
	Utilities/Services
	Access/Streets
	Factors to be considered
	Staff Comments

	12021.06.09 DEV-21-051 RZ -  pc report.doc.pdf
	Comprehensive Plan:  This parcel is within the Mixed-Use land use category.
	REPORT:
	Request
	Adjacent Land Use
	Flood Plain
	There are is Special Flood Hazard Areas, Zones AE, on this parcel per FEMA Firm Map 20103C0325G July 16, 2015.
	Utilities/Services
	Access/Streets
	Factors to be considered
	Staff Comments


	22021.05.12 Minutes.docx.pdf
	May 12, 2021


